Exploring factors influencing adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Zanzibar (Tanzania): A case of Mnazi Mmoja Hospital care and treatment centre

Amina Masoud Saleh

Zanzibar - Tanzania

48<sup>th</sup> International Course on Health Development September 19, 2011 – September 7, 2012

KIT (ROYAL TROPICAL INSTITUTE) Development Policy & Practice/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam

#### Exploring factors influencing adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Zanzibar (Tanzania): A case of Mnazi Mmoja Hospital care and treatment centre

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Public Health.

By

Amina Masoud Saleh

Tanzania

Declaration:

Where other people's work has been used (either from printed source, internet or other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirement.

The thesis "Exploring factors influencing adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Zanzibar (Tanzania): A case of Mnazi Mmoja Hospital care and treatment centre" is my work.

Signature, Metch

.....

48<sup>th</sup> International Course in Health Development (ICHD) September 19, 2011 – September 7, 2012 KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Amsterdam, The Netherlands,

September, 2012

Organised by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute), Development Policy & Practice Amsterdam, The Netherlands

In cooperation with:

Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam/Free University of Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	i
List of Figures	. iii
List of Tables	. iii
Acknowledgement	. iv
List of abbreviations	v
Abstract	. vi
Introduction	vii
CHAPTER ONE: Background	1
1.1: Geography	1
1.2. Socio-demographic	1
1.3. Socio-economic	1
1.4. Information and communication technology	2
1.5. Health care system in Zanzibar	2
1.6. The HIV and AIDS situation in Zanzibar	2
1.7. Antiretroviral therapy services in Zanzibar	2
CHAPTER TWO: Overview, problem statement, justification and objective	es
	4
2.1. Definition(s) of adherence	4
2.2. Problem statement and justification	4
2.3. Objectives	5
2.3.1. General objective	5
2.3.2. Specific objectives	5
2.4. Methodology	6
2.4.1. Research framework	6
2.4.2. Study setting	7
2.4.3. Study design	8
2.4.4. Study participants	9
2.4.5. Data collection techniques and procedure	9
2.4.6. Data processing and analysis	10
2.4.7. Ethical consideration	11
CHAPTER THREE: Literature review	12
3.1. Overview	12

3.2. Measurement of adherence	13
CHAPTER FOUR: Findings	15
4.1. Socio-demographic information	15
4.2. Individual factors	16
4.2.1. Use of traditional medicines	16
4.2.2. Forgetfulness or missing doses	17
4.2.3. Acceptance of HIV status	18
4.2.5. Tiredness	19
4.2.6. Lifestyle or behaviour	20
4.3. Socioeconomic factors	21
4.3.1. Stigma	21
4.3.2. Disclosure	21
4.3.3. Social support	22
4.3.4. Food and hunger	23
4.3.5. Economic hardship	24
4.4. Medication or treatment related factors	25
4.4.1. Treatment efficacy	25
4.4.2. Side effects	25
4.4.3. Pill burden and regimen complexity	26
4.4.4. Treatment monitoring and support	26
4.4.5. Provider-patient relationship	27
4.5. Structural related factors	27
4.5.1. Inadequate staff	27
4.5.2. Provider attitude	28
4.5.3. Drug supply (out of stock)	29
4.5.4. User fee and accessibility	29
4.6. Interventions to improve ART adherence	30
4.6.1. Use of treatment assistant	30
4.6.2. Use of medication reminders	31
4.6.3. Task shifting	31
4.6.4. Home-based care (HBC) services	32
CHAPTER FIVE: Discussion	34
5.1. Individual related factors	34
5.1.1. Use of traditional medicines	34
5.1.2. Forgetfulness or missing doses	35

5.2. Socioeconomic factors	35
5.2.1. Social support, disclosure and stigma	35
5.2.2. Economic hardship, food, hunger and transport cost	36
5.3. Medication or treatment related factors.	36
5.3.1. Efficacy and desire to live longer	37
5.3.2. Provider-patient relationship and treatment monitoring	37
5.3.3. Regimen complexity and side effect	37
5.4. Structural related factors	38
5.5. Interventions	38
Study limitations	40
CHAPTER SIX: Conclusion and recommendations	40
6.1. Conclusion	40
6.2. Recommendations	41
References	42
Annexes	55
Annex 1: consent forms	55
Annex 2: Study instruments	59
Annex 3: Ethical clearances	77
Annex 4: Checklist of ART initiation counselling	79
Annex 5: ART evaluation form	82

# List of Figures

Figure	1:	Conceptual	framework	for	analysis	of	factors	influer	ncing
adhere	nce	to ART							7
Figure	2:	Percentage c	of virological	failu	ire amon	gр	atients	on ART	and
adhere	nce								12
Figure	3: E	Employment s	tatus and AR	T ad	herence				16

# List of Tables

Table	1: Number	of respondents	s by data	collection tec	hnique	10
Table	2 : Distribu	ition of marital	status of	f respondents		15

#### Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere appreciations to International Fellowship Program (IFP) under the Ford Foundation for the scholarship award to undertake the master program in Public Health. Without this financial support I would not have been able to fulfil my dreams to develop my career.

Sincere gratitude also goes to KIT course coordinators and the management for the endless support and encouragement. Their valuable technical advice has been an enormous help.

My special thanks also go to my sister Ms Aisha M. Saleh and her family for staying with my daughter all through the year while I have been away. Without their kindness I would have had a hard time concentrating on my studies.

Finally my special thanks goes to all whom for one way or another made this work to be possible. The people living with HIV who agreed to participate to the study are given special appreciation for their good cooperation.

## List of abbreviations

- AIDSAcquired immunodeficiency syndromeARTAntiretroviral therapy
- ARV Antiretroviral
- CHBC Community Home-based Care
- CTC Care and treatment centre
- FGD Focus group discussion
- FSW Female sex workers
- HBC Home-based care
- HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
- IDI In-depth interview
- IDU Injecting drug users
- IFP International Fellowship Program
- KIT Koninklijk Instituut voor de Tropen
- MEMS Medication Events Monitoring System
- MSM Men having sex with men
- OI Opportunistic Infection
- PHCC Public health care centre
- PHCU Public health care unit
- PHIV People living with HIV
- TB Tuberculosis
- UNAIDS United Nations for AIDS
- WHO World Health Organization
- ZACP Zanzibar AIDS Control Program
- Zanzibar Association of People living
- ZAPHA with HIV and AIDS

## Abstract

**Background:** An antiretroviral therapy (ART) adherence of at least 95% has been proven necessary in order for treatment to be effective. Failure to meet this level results in poor immunological and virological outcomes.

**Objective:** The objective is to explore factors influencing ART adherence among adult people living with HIV (PLHIV) on ART for at least 6 months at Mnazi Mmoja Care and Treatment Centre (CTC) in Zanzibar.

#### Method:

**A qualitative exploratory study**: Sixteen people were recruited for indepth interviews (IDI). Four focus group discussions (FGD) with PLHIV on ART were also conducted.

**Literature review**: Publications were collected on interventions and strategies to improve ART adherence.

**Results:** Factors that were shown to impede ART adherence include the use of traditional medicines, stigma, forgetfulness, false beliefs about HIV, and alcohol/illicit drug use. Other factors are side effect, pill burden, improper treatment monitoring and support, lack of food, hunger, economic hardship.

Factors enhancing ART adherence included acceptance of HIV status, desire to be healthy and live longer, disclosure, social support, treatment efficacy and adequate drug supply.

The key interventions/strategies were use of treatment assistant, use of medication reminders, task shifting and home-based care (HBC) services.

**Conclusion:** The adherence among PLHIV on treatment can be improved through appropriate interventions/strategies.

**Recommendations:** The Ministry of Health should strengthen stigma reduction campaigns to promote disclosure and increase social support to PLHIV. The Ministry should also execute study to examine possible interaction between ART and traditional medicines.

**Key words:** Adherence, factors, antiretroviral therapy, people living with HIV, Tanzania

#### Word count: 13,089

#### Introduction

I have been working on HIV related issues since 2002. Over this period, I found myself working with limited knowledge in the area of public health to provide the target population with quality services. My experience from the field of HIV/AIDS was partly what motivated me to undertake a Master of Public Health with a specialization in HIV/AIDS.

My wish to understand adherence levels to antiretroviral therapy (ART) derived from the nature of my previous work with adult people living with HIV (PLHIV). I worked with PLHIV for four years as an HBC program regional coordinator. The interaction I had with PLHIV on treatment enabled me to sense possible factors that affected treatment adherence.

Observations during support supervision and reports from community volunteers about improper drug intakes among people on ART influenced my aim of learning more about the possible reasons. There were also limited reports that documented adherence issues and clear answers to why PLHIV on ART do not adhere optimally. I was also interested in discovering feasible interventions and strategies that could be applied by ART clinics to improve the adherence of PLHIV to treatment.

## CHAPTER ONE: Background

## 1.1: Geography

The United Republic of Tanzania is a union of Tanzania Mainland and Zanzibar. It is an East African country which shares borders with Uganda and Kenya on the north; Rwanda, Burundi, Democratic Republic of Congo in the west; Zambia and Malawi in the southwest and Mozambique in the south. The Indian Ocean is on the eastern part, where Zanzibar Islands are also situated (NBS, 2010). Tanzania has a land area of 886,254 square kilometres of which 883,600 is Mainland and 2,654 Zanzibar (NBS, 2011b). Administratively the country is divided into 26 regions, where 21 are in Tanzania Mainland and Zanzibar has 5 regions. Each region is subdivided into several districts, with a total of 113 districts. Dodoma is the capital of Tanzania, where a national assembly regularly meets.

Zanzibar is a semi-autonomous state within the United Republic of Tanzania. It is comprised of two major islands, Unguja and Pemba, and many other islets. Unguja has an estimate land area of 1,666 square kilometres and Pemba is about 988 square kilometres. Zanzibar Islands are situated about 30 kilometres from Tanzania Mainland alongside the Indian Ocean (NBS, 2011).

## 1.2. Socio-demographic

Zanzibar has an estimated 1.2 million people, with over 60% living in rural areas (NBS, 2011a; RGoZ, 2010). The overall growth rate is 3.1%, and life expectancy at birth increased from 53 years in 2003 to 60 years in 2008 (RGoZ, 2009).

Zanzibar has an estimate of 95% of Muslims and 5% are Christians and Hindu (NBS, 2005). Kiswahili is the national language, while English is used in official communications such as businesses, administrations and higher education (NBS, 2011a).

## **1.3. Socio-economic**

Zanzibar as part of United Republic of Tanzania is classified as low income country, with annual Gross Domestic Product (GDP) rate of 6.7%. The annual per capital income is USD 557. About 38% and 16% of people are living below basic needs and food poverty lines respectively. The poverty levels are higher in rural areas. The economy of the country depends on tourism and agriculture, which are still in subsistence levels. Private sectors are major employers and less than 50% of population has formal employment (RGoZ, 2010). Zanzibar economy is affected by recurrent inflation due to instability of global fuel and food prices. The annual food inflation of 25.6% has been reported to occur in 2011 (BoT, 2012). Over 80% of population has at least primary education and there has been an enormous increase of people with higher education (RGoZ, 2010).

## **1.4. Information and communication technology**

The information and communication technology has been improved through the use of mobile phones. Tanzania has six mobile phones companies of which five are providing services in Zanzibar. About 26,978,436 people have been registered as subscribers by March 2012 (TCRA, 2012). The study of 103 participants revealed 89% of respondents were using mobile phones of which 54% were from Zanzibar (Hassan and Semkwiji, 2011).

## **1.5. Health care system in Zanzibar**

Health care system in Zanzibar comprised of public and private sectors. According to the Zanzibar household indicator survey 2004, most of the population lives within a 5 kilometre radius of a health facility (NBS, 2004). Health care delivery has been categorised as primary, secondary and tertiary. The primary level involves public health care units (PHCUs) and centres (PHCCs). Secondary levels are district hospitals and tertiary includes referral and specialized hospitals (HMIS, 2010).

## **1.6.** The HIV and AIDS situation in Zanzibar

The first three cases of AIDS were reported in 1986 at the Mnazi Mmoja hospital in Zanzibar (RGoZ, 2006). Since then, the number of HIV and AIDS cases has been increasing steadily. The HIV prevalence is 0.6% among the adult population (15-49 years), with the estimate of 7,200 people living with HIV (NBS, 2008). The prevalence was higher among women (0.7%) than among men (0.5%). It was also higher by 0.5% in Unguja Island. The antenatal surveillance reports between 1999 and 2009 also indicated an HIV prevalence of less than 1.0% in Zanzibar. However, the epidemic has been reported to concentrate in key populations. In 2008, a HIV prevalence of 16.0% was revealed among injecting drug users (IDUs), 12.3% among men who have sex with men (MSM) and 10.8% among female sex workers (FSWs) (UNGAS, 2012). Another group reported with high risk of HIV infection is prisoners, where a prevalence of 2.8% was revealed (Dahoma et al. 2008).

## **1.7.** Antiretroviral therapy services in Zanzibar

Zanzibar started the provision of care and treatment services to PLHIV in 2005. At that time only Mnazi Mmmoja and Chake-Chake hospitals were providing ART services in Unguja and Pemba, respectively. By the end of 2011, 10 health facilities were providing these services in Zanzibar, which include one private Hospital (ZACP, 2011). Antiretroviral therapy is provided free of charge at all facilities, even at the private facility, which

is supplied by the Government. However, PLHIV on treatment who have been enrolled in this private clinic are paying a consultation fee.

A national guideline for the management of HIV and AIDS was established to enhance proper follow-up of people initiated with antiretroviral therapy. Until June 2012, Zanzibar was using adapted 2006 guidelines for the provision of ART services. The use of new (2010) guidelines started in mid-June, when 40 PLHIV were initiated with ART using the new criteria.

Overall enrolment of PLHIV in care and treatment services since 2005 has been 5,935 in Zanzibar (ZACP, 2011). Among these 5,935 PLHIV, 3,185 (53.6%) have been initiated with treatment. The current number of people on ART is 2,388 (40.2%) after 797 (13.4%) dropped from receiving services for different reasons. The indicated reasons for dropping out include death (274), lost to follow-up (199), quitting ARV (9) and transference out (315). Mnazi Mmoja ART clinic is currently providing ART services to 1,680 (70.4%) PLHIV, after 445 dropped out.

# **CHAPTER TWO: Overview, problem statement, justification and objectives**

## 2.1. Definition(s) of adherence

Adherence to antiretroviral treatment has been defined differently by varying authors. The World Health Organisation (WHO) defined adherence as "the extent to which individual's behaviour in terms of taking medications, following a diet and executing lifestyle change following agreed recommendations from a health provider" (WHO, 2003). Weinreich and Benn (2004) defined adherence to ART as "a measure of completeness and consistency of drug intake". Knobel et al (2000) defined non-adherence to ART as being when "a patient forgets to take medication, taking the incorrect dose, poor observation of treatment intervals/frequency, as well as neglecting other agreed recommendations like diet restriction, smoking and alcohol consumption". Furthermore, Knobel considered PLHIV on ART who were lost to follow-up as nonadherent. This study will adopt Knobel's definition to recruit PLHIV with sub-optimal adherence to ART. This definition matches the criteria used to measure adherence of ARV users in Mnazi Mmoja Care and Treatment Centre (CTC).

Optimal adherence of at least 95% has been recommended for immunological improvement and virological suppression (Jordan et al. 2008; Paterson et al. 2000). In Zanzibar a threshold of  $\geq$ 95% adherence level is recommended in the current national HIV/AIDS treatment guidelines. Below this threshold, people are considered non-adherent to treatment.

## 2.2. Problem statement and justification

Despite the increasing strategies to improve ART service provision in Zanzibar, adherence has remained a challenge to treatment results. According to the data reviewed from pharmacy and clinic reports conducted at the Mnazi Mmoja ART clinic from July to December 2011, 23% of PLHIV on ART had an adherence level of <95%; 17% had an adherence of 90%-94%; and 6% had levels below 90%. The clinic has reported recurrent development of opportunistic infections (OI) among people on the treatment (ZACP, 2011). According to this report, 45 (2.6%) PLHIV have entered second-line regimen at Mnazi Mmoja ART clinic. The facility has also documented the deaths of 189 (9%) and 110 (5%) were lost to follow-up. Treatment and virological failures have been reported as major causes of development of OIs and deaths among PLHIV under ART (Paterson et al. 2000; DeFino et al. 2004; Sethi et al. 2003). These studies have significantly associated adherence of less than 95% with treatment and virological failure.

Experience indicates that PLHIV on ART may be aware of the pros and cons of treatment adherence but still not follow the agreed recommendations due to different reasons (Mannheimer et al. 2006b). During support supervision in the HBC program, we discovered that many PLHIV were not adhering to their treatment (the author). Some PLHIV were not keeping clinic appointments, and some reported the tendency of throwing the pills away so that they would not be seen as non-adhering during pill counts. Furthermore, community volunteers reported that some PLHIV on ART were selling their drugs. These experiences have also been reported by earlier studies on the indication of non-adherence to ART in Tanzania and elsewhere (Nakiyemba, 2004; Ramadhan et al. 2007; Uzochukwu et al. 2009). On top of these challenges, limited information is available about factors influencing adherence to ART among PLHIV on treatment in Zanzibar. There is a great need for more information. The present study therefore intends to answer the following auestions:

- Why do adult PLHIV on ART at Mnazi Mmoja ART clinic not adhere optimally to their treatment?
- What are appropriate interventions and strategies to overcome the problem of sub-optimal adherence?

The study will recommend appropriate interventions based on experience from study participants and the literature review with the aim of improving adherence among those with sub-optimal adherence. The strategies could be further adapted by other ART clinics in Zanzibar.

## 2.3. Objectives

## 2.3.1. General objective

The general objective is to explore the factors affecting adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult PLHIV who have been on ART for at least 6 months at the Mnazi Mmoja hospital care and treatment centre in Zanzibar, in order to inform and improve policy, plan and implementation of HIV and AIDS related programs.

## **2.3.2. Specific objectives**

i) To explore socioeconomic and community, medicine or treatment, and structural and individual factors influencing ART adherence and non-adherence among adult PLHIV on ART for at least 6 months.

ii) To explore health care providers' awareness and strategies for enhancing ART adherence among adult PLHIV on ART.

iii) To propose appropriate strategies for improving adherence among adult PLHIV on ART based on the study findings and the evidence-based literature review.

## 2.4. Methodology

The method of this thesis includes (a) qualitative research and (b) a literature review. This section will explain the conceptual framework, study setting, design, participants, data collection techniques, and data processing and analysis.

## 2.4.1. Research framework

The conceptual framework was guiding on data collection, analysis and discussion of findings. The framework was adapted from Wekesa's (2007) approach to studying antiretroviral therapy in resource-poor settings in Sub-Saharan Africa. This model has been used to study factors that influence adherence to ART among PLHIV on ART, such as socioeconomic and community, medicine or treatment, and structural and individual factors. The model has also been used in Botswana, Tanzania, and Uganda (Hardon et al. 2006); and a systematic review by Fogarty et al. (2001). The following are explanations of individual groups of factors:

**Socioeconomic and community-level factors:** These include the cost of treatment (transport & missing work), stigma, social support networks, disclosure patterns, food and hunger.

**Medication or treatment related factors:** These are pill burden and regimen complexity (too many pills, scheduling and frequency per day); unpleasant taste, smell or colour; restrictive requirements or inconveniences (exclusion of alcohol or specific dietary requirement); and provider-patients relationship/interaction. Others are real or imagined side effects and a lack of/insufficient medical monitoring and support.

**Structural factors:** Health system factors (user fees, medical insurance), drug supplies (stock out), accessibility to health facility (inadequate health facility to provide ART), confidentiality of health facility settings and attitude of health care providers. Others are inadequate staffs which lead to high workloads and long waiting times.

**Individual factors:** These include attitudes and beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment, difficulties to understand prescribed instructions or inability to read instructions (education/literacy level), personal lifestyle/behaviours (alcohol/substance use). Others are forgetfulness, psychological factors (stress, depression, apathy, and anger about disease), and perceived wellbeing with disappearing/cessation of symptoms.

Note: Figure 1 below represents these factors in more visualized form.

# Figure 1: Conceptual framework for analysis of factors influencing adherence to ART



Source: Adapted from Wekesa, 2007 by author

# 2.4.2. Study setting

A study has been conducted at the Mnazi Mmoja hospital care and treatment centre in Zanzibar. The Mnazi Mmoja hospital is among the first two hospitals to initiate the provision of CTC services in Zanzibar. The hospital is situated within a stone town street in an urban district and is the only referral hospital. The selection of Mnazi Mmoja CTC was based on its long experience in providing ART services as indicated in the background above. The researcher also considered the presence of a large cohort of PLHIV under ART, which facilitated obtaining the required number of respondents. Mnazi Mmoja was selected out of three other public facilities that provide ART services in Unguja because of its proximity to the city and accessibility in terms of good data management.



A photo of CTC building within M/Mmoja Hospital

# 2.4.3. Study design

**A qualitative exploratory study** was conducted to explore factors influencing adherence to ART among adult PLHIV on ART at Mnazi Mmoja CTC in Zanzibar. The author also performed a literature review to identify interventions that have been applied in Tanzania and other African countries to improve the adherence among adult PLHIV on treatment.

The principal researcher was the author, who designed and conducted the study. One study assistant was recruited to support note taking during focus group discussions. The researcher was involved in the following activities to accomplish this work:

- Designing research proposal and instruments
- Pre-testing and finalizing research instruments
- Applying for and obtaining ethical approval from KIT and Zanzibar medical research board
- Requesting permissions from ZACP and Mnazi Mmoja CTC in order to execute the study
- Carrying out in-depth interviews and focus group discussions
- Conducting data analysis and compilations of findings

**The literature review** was performed in order to document interventions and strategies for improving ART adherence. The articles for the review were searched using PubMed, Science direct, Google scholar and Scopus. The World Health Organization (WHO), UNAIDS and Tanzania government websites were also consulted. Journals and previous theses from the KIT library were used to find information concerning ART issues. The key words used for the search were barriers, antiretroviral therapy, adherence, factors, people living with HIV and AIDS, Tanzania, Sub-Saharan Africa, strategies and interventions. The search was restricted to English publications from the year 2000 onwards.

## 2.4.4. Study participants

The study participants included PLHIV who had been on ART and attended the clinic from July to December 2011. The purposeful sampling was used to select the study participants. The variables that were considered for selection include sex, age, education, length on treatment, and marital status.

Next, 32 participants were selected from the facility data base of the patients who had attended the clinic from July to December 2011. By considering confidentiality and right of participation, the recruitment of PLHIV on ART was done through the nurse counsellor working in the ART clinic. From these selected PLHIV participants, 8 were involved in IDI and 24 in FGD. Moreover, the selection considered the involvement of ART clinic staff and key informants for more insights and validation of information (See Table 1 below).

## Inclusion criteria: PLHIV

All involved PLHIV were above 19 years and had started with ART at least six months before July 2011. The selection considered those who had attended the clinic from July to December 2011, as this is the latest period for which the facility reported adherence levels among its PLHIV on ART. All of the staff interviewed joined the clinic after 2005; therefore they had enough interaction, experience and understanding of patients as well as procedures of service provision within the clinic.

## Exclusion criteria:

All adult PLHIV who were on ART were eligible for this study except those who were lost to follow-up and who could not be found/traced back by the institution. Respondents who were not ready to participate and those who refused to sign consent forms were excluded. Two PLHIV (one male and one female) participants refused to sign consents so that replacement was done by considering the type of variables they were selected for.

## 2.4.5. Data collection techniques and procedure

The IDI were conducted with eight PLHIV on ART with an equal number of male and female participants. The interviews were also conducted among clinic staff and key informants. The staff involved included a pharmacist, a nurse counsellor, a doctor and a facility in-charge. Peer educator, a ZAPHA+ chair, a national HBC coordinator and the ZACP manager were also consulted as key informants. The interviews with PLHIV were conducted in the room outside the clinic area while other respondents were interviewed in their offices. Each IDI lasted for at least 60 minutes.

The investigator conducted four FGDs with PLHIV on ART to allow for triangulation of information and increase the validity of the findings. Two groups of male patients and two groups of female patients were involved. Two groups had six participants each, one male group had five and one female group had seven participants. All discussions conducted at the Zanzibar association of people living with HIV/AIDS (ZAPHA+) office as agreed with participants and each took one and half hours.

The IDI and FGD topic guides were used to guide conversations, which explored factors influencing ART adherence among ARV users. These techniques have been applied in previous studies including those conducted in Botswana, Tanzania Mainland and Uganda (Harold et al., 2006). For samples of topic guides, see Annex 2. All interviews were audio recorded and transcriptions were done in Kiswahili, which was also the language for the interviews. All participants agreed to sign consent forms (Annex 1).

Type of	Type of respondent						
collection technique	No. users	of ARV	No. Servi provi	of ce ders	f No. of Key informants		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
In-depth interview	4	4	1	3	1	3	16
Focus group discussion	11	13	0	0	0	0	24
Total	15	17	1	3	1	3	40

 Table 1: Number of respondents by data collection technique

## **2.4.6.** Data processing and analysis

The audio recorded interviews were transcribed to ensure that all information was captured. The transcription was done on the same day of interview for accuracy. Every evening, the recorded audio tapes were replayed to review and look for emerging themes from the interviews. No changes were made to the topic guides to remove or add more questions.

The data were processed manually and then pasted over the 2007 Microsoft Excel spread sheets for analysis. To ensure the study achieved its objectives, the factors were grouped into four main categories following the adapted conceptual framework.

## 2.4.7. Ethical consideration

The study was implemented in accordance with the research protocol approved by both the KIT research ethical committee and Zanzibar medical research ethical committee (Annex 3). Permission from Mnazi Mmoja hospital CTC was also obtained. Recruitment was done through a nurse counsellor as a focal person for anonymity and only those who agreed to participate were contacted. Before participating in the study, verbal and written consents were obtained from all respondents. The consent forms were in Kiswahili for PLHIV and English for staff and key informants.

## **CHAPTER THREE: Literature review**

#### 3.1. Overview

The emergence of antiretroviral drugs (ARV) has brought new hope to the world of HIV and AIDS. ARVs have been reported to improve quality of life and many PLHIV are living longer as a result (Chesney et al. 2000; Miller et al. 2000). Low and middle-income countries are working hard at scaling up ART services to ensure many people with needs can access treatment. The ART coverage increased from 5.2 million people in 2009 to 6.6 million at the end of 2010, equivalent to 27% increase (WHO, 2011a). However the scaling-up strategies are challenged by drug resistance where patients have to shift from first to second line regimens. According to the WHO, only 3% of all adult PLHIV under ART were using second-line in low and middle-income countries in 2010.

Adherence to antiretroviral therapy has been reported to result in successful treatment outcomes (Paterson et al. 2000; Penn et al. 2011; Rougemont et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2009). It is urged that plasma viral loads should be undetectable after six months of ART; otherwise poor adherence is associated with the failure (WHO, 2006). Suboptimal adherence to ART has been significantly associated with treatment failure and drug resistance among PLHIV receiving ART in India (Ekstand et al. 2011). The study reported a median detectable viral load of 8850 copies/ml, in which 42% of patients had suboptimal adherence. Moreover, treatment interruption and adherence fluctuation due to the alternation of pill taking proclaim high effects in viral load suppression (Ncaca et al. 2011). Figure 2 below indicates the association of ART adherence and virological failure.



Figure 2: Percentage of virological failure among patients on ART and adherence

Source: Paterson et al., 2000

According to Paterson and other subsequent evidence, ART adherence of at least 95% is associated with good treatment outcome and virological suppression (Ndubuka et al. 2010; Lanience et al. 2003; Mannheimer et al. 2006b). However, In one hospital in Central Nigeria, adherence was insignificant to treatment outcome. In this setting, PLHIV were found with good CD4 counts after 18 months of initiation, although adherence was less than 80% (Agu et al. 2010). However, this study used only CD4 counts to assess treatment effectiveness instead of combining with the measurements of viral strain. CD4 cells have rapid fluctuation and can therefore not be used alone to reflect ART effectiveness. Moreover, in West Africa adherence to ART was significant to CD4 cells increase but insignificant to viral suppression (Massou et al. 2008)

As indicated above, suboptimal adherence to ART affects both individuals and the general society. At the individual level, it increases AIDS progression and at a national level it ultimately increases morbidity and mortality (Ramadhan et al. 2007; Ferradini L. 2006). Suboptimal adherence may cause mutations of virus, hence drug resistance. Mostly this leads to changes in treatment regimens and in turn to higher costs. Near future patients in resource-poor settings might require transfer of first-line to second-line regimens due to treatment interruptions, which are costly, complicated and toxic (WHO, 2011b).

#### **3.2. Measurement of adherence**

Adherence to antiretroviral treatment has been measured differently in many settings within Sub-Saharan Africa and elsewhere. The methods for measuring adherence have been categorized mainly into two major groups, which include: (i) Patient-derived information and (ii) Methods for independently monitoring drug intake (Garcia et al. 2003). Other authors termed these methods as subjective and objective, respectively (Watt, 2007). Questionnaires and interviews are commonly used to assess adherence by patients, whereby medication event monitoring systems (MEMS), pharmacy records and pill counts are used to monitor drug intakes, which predict adherence (Chalker et al. 2010, Talam et al. 2008). Most studies that have combined these methods to measure ART adherence; overestimation of results have been revealed from patients' self-report (Chalker et al. 2010; Garcia et al. 2003; Mills et al. 2006). The use of independent methods has been strongly correlated with treatment outcome (Ndubuka, 2011).

Most settings that are providing HIV/AIDS care and treatments are using patients' self-report to assess adherence. A meta-analysis of the studies that measured adherence in North America and Africa indicated that 71% of settings in North America and 66% in Africa used self-report. Few of those studies claimed the use of combined methods (Mills et al. 2006). In Tanzania different methods have been applied to measure ART

adherence, which include patients' self-reports, pill counts, and MEMS (Irunde et al. 2006; Lymo et al. 2011). Mnazi Mmoja ART clinic is using pill count, pharmacy records and self-reports to assess patients' adherence.

## CHAPTER FOUR: Findings

The analysis of findings in this study has been guided by a conceptual framework, which divided factors influencing antiretroviral therapy adherence into four main groups. The presentation of findings under this chapter is based on the following categorized groups:

- Individual factors
- Socioeconomic factors
- Medication or treatment factors
- Structural factors

#### 4.1. Socio-demographic information

Overall 32 PLHIV participated in the study with 15 male and 17 female. About 65% of respondents were above 30 years whereby 19 were married. Concerning length on treatment, there was 10 people who had experience of more than 4 years on treatment. All participants had at least primary education and 35.5% were unemployed. Employment status has indicated the influence on non-adherence to treatment while age, sex, marital status and length on treatment were insignificant to ART adherence. Moreover, 6 participants were Christians although religion did not indicate any influence to treatment adherence. But according to participants from FGDs and key informants, patients who are Muslims are fasting during the holly Ramadhan. This was also highlighted by participants in FGDs, though there is no evidence indicating treatment ineffective after Ramadhan.

Table 2 and figure 2 below are summarizing information for marital status and employment in relation to adherence levels.

	Married	Divorced	Widow(ed)	Single	Total
Male	9	3	3	0	15
Female	10	2	3	2	17

#### Table 2 : Distribution of marital status of respondents



Figure 3: Employment status and ART adherence

## 4.2. Individual factors

## 4.2.1. Use of traditional medicines

According to participants, use of traditional medicine among PLHIV on ART is the strongest factor of treatment non-adherence. All of those who participated in the in-depth interviews and focus group discussions as well as staff and key informants mentioned the use of traditional medicines as a challenge for ART adherence. The analysis of transcripts discovered that at one point or another, the majority of PLHIV have used traditional medicines. Many respondents reported that the use of traditional medicines stops PLHIV on ART from regularly using their antiretroviral therapy as illustrated by the participants below.

"It happened at one period that I used traditional medicine. It was my father who told me that there are alternative medicines which can get rid of HIV. We lost a lot of money and I did not see its effectiveness. I decided to go back to ART". (Female adherent respondent)

Another respondent also said:

"My friend told me there is traditional medicine that can be used for only three months and the virus will be history. I started using the medicine and I did keep collecting my ARV though I was not using it. My health started deteriorating and that is when the CTC staff found that I was not using my drugs. You know this is happening for many of us here". (Female nonadherent participant) The challenge of the use of traditional medicines among PLHIV on ART was also supported by PLHIV in focus group discussion, staff and key informants as indicated below:

"Things that cause poor adherence in Zanzibar are traditional medicines. Just yesterday, for instance, we were with our colleague who stopped using ART for local medicines and now she is seriously sick. You see that is the danger around here" (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

Participants in FGDs reported that there are health care providers who persuade PLHIV to opt for traditional medicine. According to those participants there are also some traditional healers who buy ARV from PLHIV to mix with their herbs.

"....... A health care provider convinced me that there is a medicine that will cure me. But I did not agree because I knew those medicines are fake. But it might be easy for other people to trust when they see it is a health care provider who says so". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

Another participant said "......There was one person who told me that he would give me fifty thousand Tanzania shillings (32 US\$) per month for ARV. There is a traditional healer who mixes ARV with herbs and sells it to people". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

A service provider also confirmed the existence of this challenge, which draws back their efforts to improve adherence among their patients.

"...... He did not show any improvement. We decided to put him in second line regimen, but the condition did not improve and after a few weeks he developed TB. Finally we discovered that he had been using traditional medicines instead of ART for six months".

## 4.2.2. Forgetfulness or missing doses

Forgetfulness causing someone to miss doses is mentioned as a challenge not only by non-adherent participants but even by those recorded at the facility as having adherence levels of above 95%. Six out of the eight IDI participants declared that they occasionally forgot to take their medicines or missed doses. The range of forgetfulness or missing doses was about three times a week up to two weeks per month. The main reasons reported for forgetfulness or missing doses were being away from home, being too busy or ill, taking alcohol and falling asleep. "I could not take my medicines for five days because I was sick, I had tonsillitis" (Female adherent participant).

"I have missed my dose a few times. The first time was when I attended a funeral, the second when I travelled to Dar Es Salaam and had not taken enough pills and the other time I was not sure if I had already taken it or not". (Male adherent participant)

"I often forget in the morning when I am busy with household chores" (Female non-adherent participant)

FDG participants also mentioned missing doses because of being busy at work.

"I was missing my morning doses because my schedule started at eight in the morning. So when I arrived at work I became so busy and I forgot to take my pills. Later I decided to change my schedule and now I am taking my doses at 6 before I leave". (Female PLIHV participant to FGD)

"You can start working and become too busy so you forget to take your pills. I take my medicines with me, but I get too busy and forget to take them". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

#### 4.2.3. Acceptance of HIV status

Almost all participants reported acceptance of HIV status as a strong factor of adherence to ART. The following is some evidence from respondents.

"First you should accept your status and believe that these medicines can give you relief". (Female adherent respondent)

"You should understand and accept your status first. If you are not ready to agree with the problem you will always be challenged with medications". (Male adherent respondent)

The analysis revealed strong support provided by participants (PLHIV) in FGDs and key informants concerning the association of treatment adherence and HIV status acceptance among PLHIV as indicated below.

"First you should accept yourself and your status and agree that what you are doing (treatment) is important for your health and life". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD) "You need to accept your status; if you believe that you are living with HIV you will never quit treatment". (Key informant)

"Those who have accepted their status and believe that they are living with HIV are good in adherence". (Service provider)

False beliefs about HIV

Some participants reported the existence of beliefs that HIV can be created through superstitious power. According to participants this belief may originate from PLHIV or influenced by their families. The analysis also found that some people claim to have been bewitched once they start getting better.

One service provider reported the same

"Some people are troubled with superstitious beliefs; they said they have been bewitched. For instance, just few days ago I called one person to beg him to resume treatment but he insisted that he is not infected but that he has been bewitched".

#### 4.2.4. Desire to be healthy and live longer

According to some participants, staying healthy and having the desire to live longer motivates people on ART to adhere to their treatment.

"I fear to enter the AIDS stage". (Male adherent participant)

"I want to stay healthy. Even if people hear that I am infected they would not believe it, and I know they will not despise me" (Female PLHIV participant to FGD).

"They (ARV) help me to stay healthy so that I can stay longer with my children. I was completely despaired before ART came into my life" (Female adherent participant).

#### 4.2.5. Tiredness

Participants did not indicate that tiredness was a challenge for their ART adherence, although they agreed that the endless treatment tired them. According to analysis, those who have been on treatment for a long period are more likely to have good adherence.

"To be honest these medicines are tiresome. Drinking those pills every time, (twice a day) there are sometimes when you just want to scream! Sometimes you get angry, but you have to take them no matter what". (Male adherent participant)

Other respondents from focus group discussions, staff and key informants confirmed that using ART for a long time makes people tired, although it does not necessarily cause non-adherence.

"I am tired, yes, but when I remember how I was before ART I decide to take my pills anyway" (Male PLHIV participant to FGD).

"We should not find another person who is tired; I am also tired with these medications. But I cannot stop because ARVs is my life, my beauty and everything". (Key informant)

One key informant reported us that she had a colleague who had used ARV for a long time but decided to quit because she was tired with endless treatment.

#### 4.2.6. Lifestyle or behaviour

Alcohol and illicit drug use are among the behaviours reported by many participants to influence non adherence to ART. However, only one 54year-old male respondent mentioned the use of alcohol. He was non adherent and was living alone after divorce. When asked where he spends his leisure time he mention "In the evening normally I meet with my friends at the bar". He often forgot to take his medications when he was drunk. The following is part of his words during an interview:

"I smoke and drink Kilimanjaro (bear). I always take my medicine at home when I am alone. When I drink I just drink, there is nothing to do with medicines there"

PLHIV Participants from FGD and key informants also pointed out that people who drink alcohol and use drug do not adhere properly to their medications.

"Mixing with other behaviours like alcohol use prevents people from adhering well to treatments". (Male PLHIV Participant to FGD)

"Those who use illicit drugs have poor adherence even if they are accompanied by their peers from the sober house. Because they are not ready, they disappear after a short time". (Service provider)

## 4.3. Socioeconomic factors

#### 4.3.1. Stigma

Stigma is a strong factor reported to influence non-adherence to antiretroviral therapy by almost all participants. It was categorised as self and stigma from family or/and society. All four non-adherent participants reported being affected by stigma. Stigma was also claimed by key informants and PLHIV in FGDs to influence treatment non-adherence as indicated below.

"For a certain percentage this disease (HIV/AIDS) still is stigmatized, even here (at the clinic) there are some people (not HIV positive) who pass by like they look for someone. They try to look around and see who is sitting here. Some people do not like this and decide not to come here anymore". (Male adherent respondent)

"I do not want my colleague (at work) to know because if my bos finds out that I am HIV positive I will be dismissed. That is why when I am at work I take my pills with extra care, sometimes even in the toilet". (Female adherent participant)

"Stigma is another issue, like me I cannot take them (ARV) when I go out with my friends. Once they realise that I am infected they will abandon me. It has happened to many people and I do not want that to happen to me". (Female non-adherent participant)

Respondents from FGDs as well as key informants had the following to say regarding stigma and its association with ART adherence:

"It is a stigma; the main issue here is the stigma. Because when somebody gets HIV infection here in Zanzibar society relates it with adultery and promiscuity. In that way people fear to open up and this affects their adherence" (key informant)

## 4.3.2. Disclosure

Nearly all participants mentioned disclosure as a motivating factor in helping them adhere to antiretroviral therapy. Among eight PLHIV participants for IDI, only one male non-adherent respondent said he had not disclosed his status. Some PLHIV reported disclosure to increase their freedom to take their medication and hence facilitate adherence. There was also one female non-adherent participant who argued that her relatives would stigmatize her is she told them. Participants also agreed that disclosure is not easy and when somebody practices it they should be ready for some negative consequences. The following are some quotes from individual PLHIV during IDI, which were also reported by PLHIV who attended focus group discussions.

"I do not fear to take my pills. I always take them while I'm at the office; 8 in the morning and my colleagues know the kind of medicines I am taking". (Male adherent participant)

"I am not hiding. Wherever I go..... I go with my medicines and I can take them in front of anybody. People know that I am under treatment so when I say I am feeling hungry it is very easy to get support and care". (Female adherent participant)

Participants from all four FGDs supported the idea that being disclosed helps people to adhere well as indicated below.

"I went home and my relatives were not aware that I was positive and on treatment. For a week, I could not take my medicines. When I went again, I decided to be open and tell them. Now I am free, I do not fear anymore. They (relatives) even call and encourage me not to quit medication". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

Failure to disclose HIV status at least to the family and relatives has been shown to affect treatment adherence by respondents from FGDs, staff and key informants.

"Nobody at my office knows my status. Sometimes I miss my appointments. I cannot keep requesting for permission every month. My boss will find out and I may be dismissed from work". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

"People who disclose without facing too many challenges become good adherent because they stay free and can take their medicines anywhere". (Key informant)

#### 4.3.3. Social support

Support from family, relatives, peers and society was strongly associated with better adherence among PLHIV on ART. It was mentioned as moral to material support, such as reminding to take medicines, provision of transport fare and food. PLHIV, staff and key respondents reported that, those with treatment assistants from their families or close relatives become good adherent to their medications. However, support was strongly related to the levels of disclosure of the person on treatment as stressed by participants below.

"Because I had my colleagues from ZAPHA+ visiting me at home every week, they insisted I did not stop medication. I continued to swallow even with the many side effects". (Female adherent participant) "My children know that I take medicines at 8 pm. If I sleep early they always wake me up to confirm if I have taken my pills". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

"People who have joined the groups become good adherent to ART like those in ZAPHA+ because we get on-going adherence counselling. We meet every Saturday especially those who are new on treatment". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

One male participant to FGD insisted that being open increase freedom and support from the society.

"Sometimes I travel in commuter bus free of charge because people know my status. I cannot miss appoint because of transport fare". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

The service provider also said:

"Many people on ART who have good adherence are among those whose parents and families have accepted and giving them supports. They become so active and adhere well to their treatment because they stay happy and free". (Service provider)

#### 4.3.4. Food and hunger

Food and hunger drew very interesting discussions from both PLHIV and participants such as staff and key informants. All respondents agreed that food is an important factor for people who are on treatment, although responses were different. There were two non-adherent respondents who complained that food insecurity and hunger influences their treatment adherence. There were some PLHIV participants who agreed that ARVs are strong and should be taken with enough food. However, they take their medicines even with empty stomach because they want to stay healthy. One male participant during in-depth interview stressed that treatment could not be effective without a quality diet. On the other hand some staff did not see this as an important challenge for non-adherence. The following are some examples that have been captured from different participants:

"The first thing that makes me not to use my medicines regularly is food insecurity. You cannot take them with empty stomach; these drugs are so strong and cause hunger. After I swallow them I feel hungry every time and I do not have enough food, what do you think I can do in such situation?" (Female non-adherent participant)

"I cannot take my medicines without eating something, if I do so my stomach starts troubling. I rather not to take if I do not have anything to eat" (Male non-adherent participant)

"Food is another reason that makes people not to attend the clinic, they keep saying that I do not have food, how can I swallow pills without food? So that is among the reasons of defaulting." (Service provider)

Contrary other participants did not find food and hunger the biggest challenge in missing their doses. There are some PLHIV who reported to take their medicines even without eating.

"I am taking even with an empty stomach..... even today I have taken my medicine without eating anything" (Male adherent participant).

Moreover, one service provider and key informant did not agree that antiretroviral drugs are causing hunger but they agreed that some people reported missing their doses because of food insecurity.

"It is not true that ARV causes hunger, what happen is that when people start using ART their appetites increase, that is the logic" (Service provider).

#### 4.3.5. Economic hardship

Treatment cost in terms of transport fare and increase need for food reported to hamper adherence by many participants. Three non-adherent respondents claimed that economic hardship affects their drug intake as stressed by this female respondent.

"Life is very tough and these medicines have extra costs like food and transport. Sometimes I feel depressed when I think about life". (Female non-adherent participant)

Participants in FGDs, two staff and two key informants also reported that hardships hampered treatment adherence as indicated below.

"We also have poor economy and when you use these drugs you need enough food; you cannot swallow these medicines without eating". (Female participant to FGD) The key informant also said that "In general I have seen differences in adherence between people with good income and those with low earnings".

## 4.4. Medication or treatment related factors

#### 4.4.1. Treatment efficacy

Treatment efficacy is reported to motivate ART adherence by many PLHIV participants from IDIs and FGDs. Almost all adherent participants to IDI reported being encouraged by the efficacy of ART.

"I came here (clinic) with a serious condition, it was 2006 (one year after the start of ART provision in Zanzibar). I started using ART immediately and after a few months the new hope came into my life, ARVs has made me resume my humanity". (Male adherent participant)

The efficacy of antiretroviral therapy has been shown to facilitate treatment adherence by PLHIV Participants from FGDs as indicated below.

"I was too weak and lost weight. You could even see my bones inside. But after I started medication my health improved and my beauty returned. I will always follow recommendations because I do not like to go where I came from". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

However, there were some participants who reported being discouraged with their medicines because their CD4 counts are not increasing like the one below.

"My CD4 counts were not increasing. That is what made me to stop taking these medicines". (Male non-adherent participant)

## 4.4.2. Side effects

At least two participants reported that side effects of medicines interfere with their treatment adherence. One has used the ARV for two years and the other one for five years and has switched onto the second line regimen. These two participants complained that side effects have taken too long and made them sick.

"Before I started treatment I was not sick. Soon after using ARV I started numbness. I was a good football player but I have lost my interest due to this problem". (Male non-adherent participant)

Many participants from FGDs mentioned that people who have a combination of efavirenz in their regimen do not adhere well due to side effects of this medicine.

## 4.4.3. Pill burden and regimen complexity

The problem of regimen complexity was common among participants on the second line. Two participants reported that taking too many pills was making them tired of the treatment as indicated below.

"The tablets are many and big. Just imagine early in the morning (6 o'clock) I have to take one, at 8 o'clock I take three tablets. 8 o'clock in the evening I take three and two septrin. Totally I have to swallow nine tablets per day". (Male non-adherent participant)

Participants from FGDs also reported adherence being affected by the pill burden among PLHIV who are on the second line regimen.

"Many people who are on second line regimens do not have good adherence. If possible, it could help to have one tablet for these regimens too". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

## **4.4.4. Treatment monitoring and support**

Participants insisted that treatment monitoring is important and should be conducted regularly during routine clinic attendances. Many participants complained about improper adherence monitoring during clinic visits. They added that on-going adherence monitoring and support are to be conducted at all levels during routine clinical attendances. There were only two participants who reported they were monitored by the doctor during their clinic appointments.

"I received training at the beginning when I was prepared to start ARV. I am not receiving on-going counselling to remind me on the proper use of medicines. It is only when I go to the doctor's room". (Female non-adherent participant)

A participant from FGD also claimed that she received insufficient treatment monitoring by saying:

"When we attend clinics we need to be reminded and should be ongoing counselling, but when we go there (clinic) we just take weight, height and sometimes asked if you are feeling well. They do not know if you are taking your medication regularly...... Even though we are experienced but on-going counselling is important for all of us". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

Three key informants also claimed that insufficient on-going monitoring of treatment could affect adherence.

"The truth is people on ART get tired after sometimes and when they are tired they become so nervous and angry. That is why providers at all levels should sit and talk to them during their routine visit, which is not done in all of our clinics". (Key informant)

#### 4.4.5. Provider-patient relationship

Relationships and interaction between the service provider and client plays a big role in treatment adherence, especially for chronic illnesses like HIV. Although individual PLHIV in the IDI reported to have good relationship with service providers; participants in FGDs claimed that new staffs are normally less cooperative.

"I do not see any problem. They (staff) are nice and supportive. They treat us like relatives". (Male adherent participant)

Conversely participants in FGDs and key informants complained about the new staff.

"Those old staffs are very nice and supportive. They care about their clients. But the new staffs are not interactive at all. What they mind is chapaa (money), seminars that's all". (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

"Staffs at Mnazi Mmoja CTC are good, but old staffs are better. What I see is like those new staffs are more business oriented. I think it is because the old staff started without top up". (Key informant)

#### 4.5. Structural related factors

#### 4.5.1. Inadequate staff

Staff workload is associated with low quality services provided at the clinic, which influences poor adherence to ART. Two participants reported insufficient staffing for some cadres such as doctors. Inadequate staff was also associated with absenteeism due to trainings and seminars. For instance, during the study period only one doctor among three was available to serve clients. The analysis has documented the following concerns from participants.
"I think staffs are still few and clients are increasing very rapidly. There are also some other tasks we are involved frequently (like trainings) so sometimes we feel overwhelmed". (Service provider)

Other staffs did not feel they were overloaded with tasks as indicated below.

"To me the workload here is not alarming; it is normal. For instance the busiest day you may find about 70 to 80 people. Compared to other clinics like in Mainland this is not a workload at all". (Service provider)

Another provider did not support the concept of workload but she mentioned that they cannot attend a client for more than half an hour like they had done the last three to four years.

"I think staff is on average. We can serve without any problem. The only thing is that, you cannot attend client for more than half an hour like we used to do previously". (Service provider)

Moreover, one participant in FGD and one key informant argued that there were insufficient staffs, which reduces the time staff could stay with the client during service provision.

"Some cadres have insufficient staffs like doctors. All experience doctors have been transferred out" (Male PLHIV participant to FGD)

"You cannot take more than five minutes when you go there (clinic)". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

"....... But due to shortage of staff, I mean clients are many compared to service providers. So sometimes doctor or pharmacist are lacking time for adherence assessment and follow up". (Key informant)

#### 4.5.2. Provider attitude

In general CTC service providers were praised by almost all participants in IDI and FGD as illustrated below:

"I think they have got a special course. They are playful. Because there are some people who come here with anger like they have given the disease by these people; but they (provider) advise them to come down and pleased". (Male adherent participant)

However, one female participant to FGD reported the existence of favours to some people who are familiar or friends with providers. "... Sometimes you go there (clinic) first but you can be the last to leave. Sometimes can be disappointed and leave".

On the other hand, participants in FGDs, staff and key informants complained on the negative attitudes of staff within general health services at Mnazi Mmoja wards. A female participant to FGD said:

"Challenges that we are facing are from general wards. If staff finds that you are infected they keep saying; wait for your providers (from CTC) they will come to serve you. Even if you have your medicines (ARV) they normally do not help you to access".

One key informant was insisted on negative attitudes that health care providers have at Mnazi Mmoja Hospital.

"PLHIV are so much stigmatized when they are admitted at the hospital wards.....; Previously the CTC team was going to provide services when it happen that PLHIV is admitted". (Key informant)

## 4.5.3. Drug supply (out of stock)

According to participants, Zanzibar has never faced a shortage of ARV supplies that could influence non-adherence. The only reported challenge by all respondents was shortage of some types of medicines for certain regimens, which normally do not take long. Here are some responses:

"It happened to me only once. The tablets I was using were 500mgs and there was 250mgs in stock. So my dose was doubled". (Male adherent participant)

There were two participants who reported being motivated to continue with medications due to drug availability.

"Because I have never missed my regimen, I am so much motivated". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

#### 4.5.4. User fee and accessibility

The transcripts indicated none of the respondents reported about the fees for ART. According to participants, antiretroviral therapy is provided free of charge. They added that the government has increased access to ART by adding more centres to provide these services. However, people who are living in Central district mentioned to have the challenge of inaccessibility to ART centres.

"Like the central district; the way it is scattered but there is no facility to provide ART services. Some people find it difficult to come here (Mnazi Mmoja) or going to Kivunge. Both are too far". (Female PLHIV participant to FGD)

Some staff and key respondents also reported distance to the facility as a challenge to ART adherence as follows.

"Distance from facility is also contributing to poor adherence ......some people are missing appointments especially those from Central district". (Key informant)

## **4.6. Interventions to improve ART adherence**

This part will include results from the primary findings and the findings from existing literature.

### 4.6.1. Use of treatment assistant

The use of treatment assistant is a protocol applied for all PLHIV who are initiated with ART by the facility (See Annex 4 for the checklist). Four IDI respondents, two female adherents PLHIV, one staff and a key informant, reported the use of treatment assistant as a recommended procedure during ART initiation at the clinic.

"Before starting medication we are asked to come with family member/relative or anybody who is close to you. The main purpose of bringing this person is to remind for pill taking". (Female adherent participant)

However this strategy seems to benefit only those who have been able to disclose as indicated below.

"It is a protocol; everybody should go with treatment assistant before the start of ART. However, those who do not want to disclose to their relatives can pick anybody from the street, which later interfere with their adherence". (Key informant)

Peer educators, Community Home-based Care (CHBC) providers and even clinic service providers have been reported to support people who do not have assistants among their relatives or friends. Mostly they use phones to remind patients especially during first weeks of initiation. However, this seemed to be a challenge for those who do not have a phone.

"There are some people who lacks close relative to support them during ART initiation. So peer educators and CHBC do it on behalf". (Service provider)

In different settings this adherence support intervention has been identified by different names, including assistant; monitor or buddy (Birbeck et al. 2009). Birbeck (2009) revealed good adherence among people on ART who had treatment buddies in rural Zambia. In Uganda, (2006) reported higher levels of adherence and low rate of virological

failure among people on ART with treatment supporters against those in control group (Mannheimer et al. 2006a).

## **4.6.2. Use of medication reminders**

The use of medication reminders has been found effective in supporting adherence to ART among people on treatment in many settings. Mobile phone short message (SMS) reminders have been reported as an effective tool to improve ART adherence in many African settings (Curioso et al. 2011; Lester et al. 2010; Horvalt et al. 2012 and Pop-Eleches et al. 2011). In the Meta analysis of two Kenya randomised controlled trials, phone text messaging revealed a higher ART adherence rate and reduction of virological failure (Horvath et al. 2012). In this systematic review, patients were receiving text message to remind them to take their pill either daily or weekly. In South Africa, the use of text messages among young people on ART reduced the number of doses missed and improved levels of adherence (Dowshen et al 2012). Additionally, reminder devices such as pill boxes, alarms (Barnighausen et al 2011) and a calendar (Mugusi et al 2009) have been reported to improve treatment adherence in Tanzania and elsewhere.

According to study analysis, seven participants reported the use of telephone alarms although it is not an official procedure by the facility. The facility is also using monitoring checklist (by the patients) and brochures to support treatment adherence.

# 4.6.3. Task shifting

Shortage of the health workforce is among constraints in the fight against the HIV/AIDS pandemic in Africa. WHO has defined task shifting as "a shift of tasks wherever appropriate to health workers with shorter training and fewer qualifications" (WHO, 2008).

Task shifting is among the strategies applied to tackle this problem in many African settings including South Africa (Callaghan et al. 2010; Uebel et al. 2011). According to Callaghan (2010) in a systematic review of studies conducted in African countries, task shifting brought dramatic improvements to the outcomes of antiretroviral therapy. Many of these studies used nurses, clinicians and trained lay community health workers to offer ART related services. Improvement of treatment adherence, cost reduction, increase of social support, reduction of stigma and clients lostto follow up are among the reported outcomes. Increase of CD4 cell counts, viral load suppression and delay of first-line regimen resistance also were reported (Callaghan et al. 2010). In the world of HIV/AIDS and health workforce shortage, task shifting approach is the main concern to improve treatment effectiveness and outcome (Larson et al. 2011). A retrospective cohort study in Ethiopia, which evaluated outcomes of 25 health centres and hospitals that are providing ART services, revealed high acceptability; feasibility and effectiveness of these services at health centres. Health officers and nurses were prescribing ART unless the case is severe. Community health workers also trained and they were providing adherence counselling and tracing of defaulters. Retention in care was higher in health centres than in hospitals and mortality differences were statistically insignificant (Assefa et al. 2011). Task shifting for ART service provision by nurses was feasible and acceptable by stakeholders in South Africa (Georgeu et al. 2012).

The use of community health care providers to provide ART services has also been approved as effective in many African settings. A systematic review conducted for 30 publications has demonstrated this effectiveness. This review reported the increase of access, coverage, adherence levels, CD4 cell counts as well as viral load suppression. The results also indicated high patient retention rates and survival (Wouters et al. 2012).

### 4.6.4. Home-based care (HBC) services

Home based HIV care and treatment have been proven as an effective strategy to improve treatment outcomes in many resources contained settings (Weidle et al 2006; Wouters et al 2012). Patients who were receiving home based care services found with higher levels of adherence and increased CD4 cell counts in four settings in Sub-Saharan Africa (Kabore et al. 2010). In Uganda different studies have documented successful results of ART services provided through HBC services (Abaasa et al. 2008; Babigumira et al. 2009; Jaffar et al. 2009 and Kipp et al. 2011).

Kipp compared community-based with hospital-based care to assess the treatment outcomes in two years' prospective cohorts of HIV patients in rural Uganda. The results indicated successful outcomes in both groups. However, community-based care indicated higher level of viral suppression and better adherence to ART. The model used trained community volunteers to provide services, which included monthly drug refills; adherence monitoring and checking of adverse effects for referrals (Kipp et al. 2011).

In western Kenya, patients under community ART care provided by trained community volunteers were compared with controlled group. Acceptance and adherence rate reported to improve in the intervention group. Community volunteers felt that adherence assessment was more accurate in the community than at the facility as indicated below.

"I learnt that patients never cheat when they are at their home than when they come here at the clinic...... They sometimes leave their pills at home when coming to the clinic" (Wools-Kaloustian et al. 2009, p.9).

Although many studies have indicated the effectiveness of home-based ART services provision, Babigumira et al (2009) reported high cost of provision ART services through home-based and mobile clinics over facilities-based in Uganda. However, the same study revealed a higher survival rate and good adherence to treatment for home-based lead services.

## CHAPTER FIVE: Discussion

This study intended to identify factors influencing adherence to ART among adult PLHIV on treatment, in order to advise for appropriate strategies to improve adherence. The study explored several factors through in-depth interviews with ARV users, service providers and key informants. This section will discuss the identified factors per study framework and according to interlinking of themes.

## 5.1. Individual related factors

The factors which are discussed under this group are the use of traditional medicines and forgetfulness. At individual level these were the major factors that independently indicated to have high influence on ART adherence.

### 5.1.1. Use of traditional medicines

The findings have indicated that many PLHIV on ART are using traditional medicines, which affect adherence. The study analysis found that people believe that traditional medicines can cure HIV/AIDS. Others find traditional medicines as alternative after getting tired with antiretroviral therapy. These findings correlate with other studies from Tanzania and other African countries. However, reports of selling ART to traditional healers and the behaviour of service providers to persuade PLHIV to seek for traditional healing is exceptional case as discovered by this study. Participants reported that some traditional healers are mixing their herbs with ARV and they claim that the mixture can increase CD4 cells.

Studies from Tanzania, Botswana and South Africa have documented use of traditional medicines as a barrier to ART adherence (Kimambo et al. 2012; Kip et al. 2009; Nsimba et al. 2010; Penn et al. 2011). Kimambo et al (2012) has reported use of traditional medicines by over 50% of study respondents in Dar es Salaam, where poor adherence was also common. Moreover, in a prospective study from South Africa, poor adherence to ART was significantly associated with the use of herbs (Piltzer et al. 2010).

Negative belief about HIV/AIDS such as witchcraft is another factor that has been reported by participants to hamper adherence. The findings indicated that people who have these beliefs can easily be motivated to find alternative medications. Superstitious beliefs were also found to perpetuate use of traditional medicines in South Africa (Penn et al. 2011).

Over 90% of people worldwide are estimated to use traditional and alternative medications (WHO, 2011). Traditional and alternative medicines were legalized in Zanzibar after the government enacted an Act No. 8 of 2008 (MoH, 2011). Before the era of ARV people were not

restricted to using local remedies together with modern drugs. This allowed them to use both following the culture and traditions.

## 5.1.2. Forgetfulness or missing doses

The analysis revealed forgetfulness as a major barrier to treatment adherence. Almost all participants reported that they have been missing their treatment lifetime. The highlighted reasons doses in for forgetfulness and missing doses were being away from home, being too busy, and illnesses, fall asleep or taking alcohol. These findings have also been reported in previous studies from Tanzania and other resourcecontained countries (Hardon et al. 2006; Tunner 2002; Vervoort et al. 2007; Wanjohi 2009). In Kenya Unge et al (2010) found that patients were running out of pills not because of stock out but due to late collection or being in trips. Moreover, in Ethiopia Amberbir et al (2010) reported that PLHIV on ART were missing their dose due to forgetfulness (40%); being ill (19%); falling asleep (18%) and being busy (12%).

## **5.2. Socioeconomic factors**

The discussion of factors under this cluster has considered the interrelationship among the factors for influencing ART adherence. The factors with this character have been grouped and discussed together.

## 5.2.1. Social support, disclosure and stigma

Social support, disclosure and stigma have strong relationship and influence on ART adherence as reported by the participants. The majority of participants agreed that support from relatives, friends and/or society influences good adherence as it tends to increase accessibility. Among the reported supports include transport fare, food and being reminded for drug intake. Disclosure of HIV status was associated with the increase of social support by participants. Some participants even reported that failure to disclose HIV status impede the access of support from relatives, friends or society. The analysis revealed that the majority of people with suboptimal adherence had not disclosed their status. Stigma has been held responsible for non-disclosure of HIV status.

These findings are in agreement with what have been found in previous studies. Social support from family, relatives, and friends has revealed to influence optimal treatment adherence in many African countries (Tiyou et al. 2010; Ware et al. 2009; Sanjobo et al. 2008).

In Tanzania and South Africa disclosure has been found to influence social support and good ART adherence (Nsimba et al. 2010; Peltzer et al. 2010). On the other hand, lack of disclosure due to stigma has been associated with inadequate social support and poor adherence (Nsimba et al. 2010; Kagee et al. 2011). Nigeria Okoukwoh (2011) found that

stigma at the workplace caused people not to disclose due to the fear of being dismissed from jobs. The systematic review from African countries had associated stigma to poor uptake of HIV services including care and treatment (MacQuarrie et al. 2009). Moreover, lack of disclosure and lack of treatment assistance due to stigma found as barrier to ART adherence in Kenya (Unge et al. 2010). According to stigma index report, Zanzibar has high levels of stigma (ZAPHA+, 2010). The findings of this study and literatures have revealed stigma as barrier to disclosure, which hinders social support and adherence to ART.

## 5.2.2. Economic hardship, food, hunger and transport cost

The study findings have indicated poor economic status as a motivation factor of treatment non-adherence. Food, hunger and transport have been cited as constraints to treatment adherence by participants. Some participants mentioned that ARVs cause hunger so cannot be taken without food. Participants also highlighted that people from the Central district (rural communities) are missing their clinic appointments due to un-affordability of transport costs. Conversely, people who are motivated have been reported to take their medication without food and others are going to the clinic by foot.

Poverty has been responsible for impeding efforts to fight HIV/AIDS in Zanzibar (ZAC, 2011). Problem of food insecurity, hunger and transport cost might be influenced by the poverty faced by PLHIV. Poverty affects more in rural areas, where 60% of the population is living. According to Zanzibar strategy for growth and poverty reduction, 38% and 16% of rural population live below basic needs and food poverty line respectively (RGoZ, 2010). As indicated above people from Central district could face double challenges namely poverty and inaccessibility of services.

The previous studies from Tanzania have documented food, hunger and transport costs as barriers to ART adherence (Hardon et al. 2006; Weiser et al 2010). Other studies from Africa have also articulated these factors as challenge to ART adherence (Tiendrebeogo 2008; Goudge and Ngoma 2011; Skovdal et al. 2011). In Uganda patients were reported to miss their refill appointments due to un-affordability of transport costs (Tuller et al. 2010). Although ART services have been made available in all regions of Zanzibar, geographical make up of Central district affects accessibility. All service sites are far to be reached by people from this district (ZACP, 2011). The difficult to attend appointments among rural citizens affect treatment follow up and eventually adherence (Peltzer et al. 2010).

## **5.3. Medication or treatment related factors.**

The grouping of factors for discussion has been also considered under this section as per their inter-relation effect on treatment adherence.

# 5.3.1. Efficacy and desire to live longer

The majority of study participants reported treatment efficacy and desire to live longer as motivators for ART adherence. The fear of returning to previous condition was revealed as a potential influencer to treatment adherence. The results from this study are consistent with previous findings from Tanzania and other African countries (Ramadhan et al. 2007; Roura et al. 2009; Sanjobo et al. 2008). The systematic review by Vervoot et al (2007) revealed good adherence among patients with selfmotivation on treatment efficacy and desire to live longer. In Arusha-Tanzania, effectiveness of treatment and need to stay healthy was reported to motivate people on ART to adhere, regardless of other impeding factors like economic hardship and stigma (Watt et al 2009). However, good adherence in this setting might be influenced by the high adherence support from providers and peer educators.

# 5.3.2. Provider-patient relationship and treatment monitoring

Based on reported evidence from participants, older staff seemed to be more interactive with clients than new staff within the study setting. Low experience and inadequate knowledge might influence this attitude.

The reported inadequate treatment monitoring and support by ARV users might be due to limited interaction among providers and patients. Adherence has been reported to diminish overtime (Ambierbir et al 2008). Although experience on ART did not indicate any difference on adherence; the majority of respondents from FGDs were begging for on-going treatment monitoring regardless of their experiences.

Inadequate treatment monitoring due to limited provider-client interactions has been reported in Zambia, which also affected ART adherence (Sanjobo et al. 2008). Good relationship between service providers and clients has been reported to motivate acceptance of services and build trust, which in turn improve adherence (Garcia et al. 2003; Russell et al. 2004).

## 5.3.3. Regimen complexity and side effect

Side effects and regimen complexity were not mentioned as barriers to ART by many respondents. However, people on second-line regimen reported to face the challenges of too many pills and adverse effects that compromise their adherence. All respondents who reported side effects and regimen complexity as a barrier to adherence were younger and on second-line regimens. The complexity of regimen and side effects has been reported among the difficulties faced by ARV users to adhere to their treatment. Pill burdens, restrictions, inconsistence frequencies against daily life schedules have been commonly documented in Kenya and other resource-poor settings (Fogarty et al. 2002; Vervoot et al. 2007, Okonkwoh 2011). Treatment side effects have been related to nonadherence in South Africa and Uganda (Penn et al. 2011; Weiser et al. 2003). Poor adherence to treatment has been reported as risk factor to second-line regimen in two Systematic reviews from resource-limited settings (Ajose et al. 2012; Merten et al. 2010).

## 5.4. Structural related factors

The factors identified under this group were inadequate staff, drug supplies, provider attitude and accessibility of services. The negative attitude of providers from general health services where PLHIV are admitted revealed to have negative impact on adherence. The staffs from general health services are normally requesting providers from ART clinic to attend their clients. Top-up salaries provided to ART clinic staffs might influence this behaviour. Concerning staff shortage, participants had different opinions. Some felt inadequacy and others considered the ratio of staff to patient as manageable. However, on the long run this could be a problem due to the increase of people on treatment. The recent strategy of treatment for prevention and application of new 2010 WHO guidelines could be responsible for this increase. Adequate drug supplies have been seen to influence uptake of services as Zanzibar has never faced drug stock out.

## 5.5. Interventions

The interventions and strategies identified in this study include use of treatment assistant, use of reminder devices, task shifting and home-based care ART services.

The HBC services for HIV and other chronic illnesses is not a new idea in Zanzibar. It has been scaled up all over the country and many health centres are linked with these services. Community volunteers are providing care and support to PLHIV at home under HBC program. The service providers from ART clinic acknowledged the support provided by volunteers such as tracing defaulters and supplying ARV to PLHIV with transport problems. However, these are informal practices. The harmonisation of resources between HBC and ART programs could increase the effectiveness. The integration of ART into HBC can improve adherence as HBC services involve many players such as civil society organizations (CSOs) and communities. The integration of ART into HBC services has been reported as an effective model in many African settings (Wouters et al. 2012). Moreover, meaningful involvements of PLHIV on ART through organised groups have been approved being effective in Mozambique (Decroo et al. 2011).

**The treatment assistants** are recommended by the facility for all new patients initiated with treatment. Although the model has been applied for long time, possible involuntary disclosure may affect peoples' privacy. The

strategy also does not benefit people who do not want to disclose or those who do not have relatives. In rural Zambia use of treatment assistants (buddies) revealed to improve ART adherence (Berbeck et al. 2009).

**The use of reminder devices** such as telephone alarms was reported by the majority of people on treatment for reminding on pill taking. The telephone alarms and text messages are simple, feasible and applicable to Zanzibar as it has been applied by previous HIV and other health programs to improve quality of care. Moreover, the recent study indicates that there is high number (over 50%) of people with mobile phones in Zanzibar, which increases the feasibility of this model (Hassan and Semkwiji 2011).

Different settings in Tanzania and Kenya have been attempted the use of reminder devices to address problem of forgetfulness and improve adherence (Barnighausen et al. 2011; Mugusi et al. 2009). Some African settings have been succeeded to overcome problem of missing doses through use of reminder devices, text message being the popular (Dowshen et al. 2012).

**Task shifting** by rolling out ART services to the health centres may address the issue of inequitable distribution of services. The health centres and nurses or physicians to provide ART services has been used to reduce inaccessibility and address human resource for health shortage in South Africa and Rwanda (Shumbusho et al. 2009; Wet et al. 2011). According to systematic review form African countries, task shifting to nurses at health centres has been applied and resulted with good ART outcomes including adherence (Callaghan et al. 2010).

Although Zanzibar has struggled to keep ART centre in each region, people from Central district are still complaining on inaccessibility. Application of task shifting model is feasible due to available skilled staff, which may only need complementary training to increase ART knowledge. Zanzibar anticipates increase of PLHIV on treatment after effective use of new 2010 WHO treatment guidelines and implementation of treatment for prevention strategy. Involvement of lower cadres and decentralisation of ART service provision is important to address insufficiency of doctors, which seemed to challenge ART service provision.

Though task shifting and integration of ART into HBC services seemed to be applicable and feasible in Zanzibar, possible challenges may affect adaptation. The challenges include support supervision; on-going refresher trainings and enabling policy environment to allow lower cadres to prescribe ART. Currently, the ART guidelines in Zanzibar recommend prescription of ART by doctors only. Moreover, incentives to service providers are essential for the quality of care.

## Study limitations

- Small sample size for the in-depth interview with ARV users, which might affect exploration of more information.
- Limited time that influenced missing of appropriate information from defaulters and irregular clinic attendants who could have more information on the factors influencing non-adherence to ART. The researcher could not be able to follow these kinds of people at their living areas.
- Use of few data collection methods which hindered collection of information that are could not be easily secured by applied techniques. The observation was a potential technique, which may enrich information about staff attitude.
- Exclusion of adolescents and children has limited the findings to capture adherence challenges from these groups.

# CHAPTER SIX: Conclusion and recommendations

## 6.1. Conclusion

This study has documented factors influencing ART adherence among adult PLHIV on ART at Mnazi Mmoja CTC in Zanzibar at different levels. Use of traditional medicines, forgetfulness, economic hardship and inadequate treatment monitoring were revealed to hamper ART adherence. Social support (which was reported to be influenced by disclosure), efficacy and a desire to live longer reported as important motivators to good adherence. Moreover, acceptability of HIV status reported by participants to have strong influence on adherence. On the other hands, stigma was found to play a big role for non-disclosure, which in turn affects access to social support.

Likewise many other factors have been found to have inter-relation effects on adherence. For instance, efficacy of treatment influences people to accept HIV status. Economic hardship has been indicated to affect food security and affordability in terms of transport cost.

Finally, the strategies and interventions were documented which include the use of reminder devices, treatment assistant, provision of ART through HBC services and task shifting. These interventions could be feasible but can face many challenges including unsupportive policy and guidelines.

## 6.2. Recommendations

Government of Zanzibar through responsible ministries should collaborate with potential multisectoral stakeholders to address socioeconomic problems faced by PLHIV in Zanzibar. Civil society organizations, faithbased organizations and private sectors are important players to support the issue. Promotion of income generating activities among PLHIV could improve their social and economic wellbeing.

The Ministry of Health in collaboration with mobile phone companies should initiate and strengthen the use of mobile phone text messages to address the problem of forgetfulness. This could also help to reduce possibilities of involuntary disclosure during ART initiation. For those without phones the use of calendars could be the alternative. Experience indicates that mobile phone companies are active in supporting social and development activities in Tanzania. Also the mobile phone ownership is high among citizen, which increases the feasibility of the model.

The Ministry of Health should review the policy and guidelines for ART service delivery, to allow nurses and clinicians to prescribe ART to clients with normal health conditions. The harmonized guidelines should also consider integration of ART into home-based care services. The use of lower cadres and integration of ART services into HBC program could address inaccessibility and inequitable distribution as well as improved quality of services. The strengthened synergies between ART and HBC program through joint supervision and sharing of staff could reduce cost and time for service provision.

Finally the Ministry of health should execute the following studies for evidence informed strategies:

- Examine interaction of traditional medicines with antiretroviral therapy. This may reduce restrictions from use of ART together with herbs, or find alternative strategy if interaction would be revealed. Documentation of these findings is important resolve poor adherence due to traditional medicine usage.
- Explore factors influencing adolescents' ART adherence and age specific interventions in order to address adherence problems within the group. The appropriate interventions may control number of youth who enter second-line regimen due to poor adherence.

#### References

Abaasa A.M., Todd, J., Ekoru, K., Kalyango, J.N., Levin, J., Odeke, E. and Karamagi, C.A.S. (2008) Good adherence to HAART and improved survival in a community HIV/AIDS treatment and care programme: the experience of the AIDS support organisation (TASO), Kampala, Uganda, *BMC Health Service Research*, 8:241 doi:10.1186/1472-6963-8-241, [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/8/241</u>. [Accessed 12 May 2012]

Agu, K., Ochei U., Oprah A., and Onoh, O. (2010) Treatment outcome in patients receiving combination antiretroviral therapy in central Hospital, Benin City, Nigeria. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 9(1), pp. 1-10 [online] Available at http://www.ajol.info/index.php/tjpr/article/view/52028/40660. [Accessed on 5 April 2012]

Ajose, O., Mookerjee, S., Mills, E.J., Boulle, A., and Ford, N. (2012) Treatment outcomes of patients on second-line antiretroviral therapy in resource-limited settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis, *AIDS*, 26, pp. 000-000

Amberbir, A., Woldomichael, K., Getachew, S., Girma, B., and Deribe, K. (2008) Predictors of adherence to antiretroviral therapy among HIVinfected persons: a prospective study in Southwest Ethiopia, *BMC Pub. Health*; 8: 265 pp.doi:10.1186/1474-2458-8-285 [online] Available from http://www.biomedcentral.com/147-2458/8/265 [Accessed on 8 July 2012]

Assefa, Y., Kifflie, A., Tekle, B., Mariam, D.H., Laga, M., and Van Damme, W. (2011) Effectiveness and acceptability of delivery of ART in health centeres by health officers and nurses in Ethiopia, *J Health Serv. Res. Policy*, 17(11), pp. 24-9

Babigumira, J.B., Sethi, A.K., Smyth, K.A., and Singer, M.E. (2009) Cost effectiveness of facility-based care, home-based care and mobile clinics for provision of antiretroviral therapy in Uganda, *NIH*, 27(11), pp. 963-973

Bank of Tanzania (2012) *Zanzibar economy to grow by eight percent* [African Globe] Available from: <u>www.africaglobe.net/business/zanzibar-economy-grow-percent</u>. [Accessed 14 August 2012]

Barnighausen, T., Chaiyachati, K., Chimbindi, N., Peoples, A., Haberer, J. and Newell, M-L. (2011) Interventions to increase antiretroviral adherence in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review of evaluation studies, *Lancet Infect disease*, 11, pp. 942-51 Birbeck, G.L., Chombo, E., Kvalsund, M *et al.* (2009) Antiretroviral adherence in rural Zambia: the first year of treatment availability, *J Trop Med Hyg*, 80(4), pp. 669-674

Callaghan, M., Ford, N., and Scneider, H. (2010) A systematic review of task shifting for HIV treatment and care in Africa, *MBC*, 8, pp. 8

Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) 2005: [Online] Available from: <u>http://geography.about.com/library/cia/blctanzania.htm</u> [Accessed 8 March 2012]

Chalker, J.C., Andualem, T., Gitau, L.N., Ntaganira, J., Obua, C., Tadeg, H. *et al.* (2010) Measuring adherence to antiretroviral treatment in resource-poor settings: the feasibility of collecting routine data for key indicators, *BMC Health Service Research*, 10, pp. 43 [online] Available from <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/10/43</u>. [Accessed on 8 April 2012]

Chesney, M.A., Morin, M. and Sherr, L. (2000) Adherence to HIV combination therapy, *Social Science and Medicine*, 50(11), pp. 1599-1605

Curioso, W.H., Quistberg, D.A., Cabello, R., Gozzer, E., Garcia, P.J., Holmes, K.K. and Kurth, A.E. (2011) "It's time for your life": how should we remind patients to take medicines using short text messages? *AMIA*, pp. 129

Dahoma, M.J.U., Mtumbuka, E., Khatib, A.M., Othman, A.A., Seha, A.M., Abdallah, A. and Khalfan, A. (2008) Light behind bars: addressing the HIV and AIDS challenges in all settings in Zanzibar. The predisposing risk factors and STI infections among correctional facilities students "prisoners" in Zanzibar, Zanzibar, Stationary Office

De Wet, K., Wouter, E., and Engelbrecht, M. (2011) Exploring taskshifting practices in antiretroviral treatment practices in the free state province, South Africa, *J Public Health Policy*, 32, pp. S94-S101 [Online] Available from: <u>www.palgrave-journals.com/jphp/journal/v32/nls/pdf</u>. [Accessed 14 august 2012]

Decroo, T., Telfer, B., Biot, M., Maikere, J., Dezembro, S., Cumba, L.S., das Dores, C., Chu, K. and Ford, N. (2011) Distribution of ART through self-forming groups of patients in Tete Province, Mozambique, *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 56, e39-44 [Online]. Available from: http://www.aids2012.mf.org/wp-

content/uploads/2012/05/101113 Decroo ART-patient-grps-Moz JAIDS-2011-56-e39-44.pdf. [Accessed 23 July 2012]

DeFino, M., Clark, J., Mogyoros, D., Shuter, J. (2004) Predictors of virologic success in patients completing a structured antiretroviral

adherence program. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care,* 15, pp. 5.

Dowshen, N., Kuhns, L.M., Johnson, A., Holoyda, B.J., and Garofalo, R. (2012) Improving adherence to antiretroviral treatment for youth living with HIV/AIDS: a pilot study using personalized interactive daily text message reminders, *J Med Inter Res*, 14(2), pp. e51

Ekstrand, M., Shet, A., Chandy, S., Singh, G., Shamsundar, R., Madhavan, V. *et al.* (2011) Suboptimal adherence associated with virological failure and resistance mutations to first-line highly active antiretroviral therapy in Bangalore, India, *J Inter Health*, 3, pp. 27-34.

Ferradini, L., Jeannin, A., Pinoges, L. (2006) Scaling up of highly active antiretroviral therapy in rural district of Malawi: an effectiveness assessment, *Lancent*, 367, pp. 1335-42

Fogarty, L., Roter, D., Larson, S., Burke, J., Gillespie, J., and Levy, R. (2001) Patient adherence to HIV medication regimens: a review of published and abstract reports, *J Patient Educ. And Couns*, 46, pp. 93-108

Garcia, P.R., and Cole, J.K. (2003) Factors affecting adherence to antiretroviral therapy in people living with HIV/AIDS, *J Assocc of Nurs in AIDS Care*, 14(4), pp. 37-45

Garcia, R., Schooley, R., Badaro, R. (2003) An adherence trilogy is essential for long term HAART success, *The Brazilian JID*, 7(5), pp. 307-314.

Geest, S. and Hardon, A. (2006) Social and cultural efficiencies of medicines: complications for antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 2, pp. 48

Georgeu, D., Colvin, C.J., Lewin, S., Feirall, L., Bachmann, M.O., Uebel, K., Zwarenstein, M., Draper, B. and Bateman, E.D. (2012) Implementing nurse-initiated and managed antiretroviral treatment (NIMART) in South Africa: a qualitative process evaluation of the STRETCH trial, *BMC*, doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-66. [online] Available from http://www.implementationscience.com/content/7/1/66. [Accessed on 3 august 2012]

Goudge, J. and Ngoma, B. (2011) Exploring antiretroviral treatment adherence in an urban setting in South Africa, *J of Pub. Health Policy* 32, pp.S1,S52-S64

Hardon, A., Davey, S., Gerrits, T., Catherine, H., Irunde, H., Kgatlwane, J., Kinsman, J., Nakiyemba, A. a Laing, R. (2006) From access to adherence: the challenges of antiretroviral treatment studies from Botswana, Tanzania and Uganda, pp. 1-1349 [online] available from:

http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/challengesARVtreatment15Au gust2006.pdf [Accessed15 December 2011]

Hassan, A.K., and Semkwiji, D. (2011) The role of mobile phones on sustainable livelihood, *The Economic and Social Research Foundation (ESRF)* [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.esrf.or.tz/docs/mobilephonesstudy2011.pdf</u>. [Accessed 14 August 2012]

HMIS Unit (Health Management Information System Unit) (2010) Health information bulletin 2009, MoH, Zanzibar: Stationary Office [online] Available from: <u>http://www.zanhealth.info</u> [Accessed 20 March 2012]

Horvath, T., Azman, H., Kennedy, G.E. and Rutherford, G.W. (2012) Mobile phone text messaging for promoting adherence to antiretroviral therapy in patients with HIV infection (Review), *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 3, CD009756, DOI:10.1002/14651859.CD009756

Igumbor, J.O., Scheeper, E., Ebrahim, R., Joson, A. and Grimwood, A. (2011) An evaluation of the impact of a community-based adherence support programme on ART outcomes in selected government HIV treatment sites in South Africa, *AIDS Care*, 23(2), pp. 231-6

Irunde, H., Temu, F., Maridadi, J., Nsimba, S. and Comoro, C. (2006) a study on antiretroviral adherence in Tanzania: a pre-intervention perspective, 2005 in from access to adherence

Jaffar, S., Amurron, B., Foster, S., Birungi, J., Levin, J., Namara, G., Nabryo, C., Ndembi, N., Kyomuhangi, R., Opio, A., Bunnell, R., Tappero, J.W., Mermin, J., Coutinho, A. and Grosskurth, H. (2009) Rates of virological failure in patients treated in a home-based versus a facility-based HIV care model in Jinja, southeast Uganda: a cluster-randomised equivalence trial, *Lancet*, 374, pp. 208-89

Jordan, M., Bennell, D., Bertagnolio, S., Gilks, C. and Sutherland, D. (2008) World health organization survey to monitor HIV drugs resistance prevention and associate factors in sentinel antiretroviral treatment sites, *International Medical Press*, 2, pp. 15-23.

Kabore, I., Bloem, J., Elheredge, G., Obiero, W. Wanless, S., Doykos, P., Ntsekhe, P., Mtshali, N., Afrikaner, E., Sayed, R., Bostwelelo, J., Hani, A., Moshabesha, T., Kalakala, A., Mameia, J., Zwane, N., Shangwe, N., Mtshali, P., Mohr, B., Smuts, A. and Tiam, A. (2010) The effect of community-based support services on clinical efficacy and health-related quality of life in HIV/AIDS patients in resource-limited settings in Sub-Saharan Africa, *J AIDS Patient Care & STDs*, 24(9), pp. 581-94

Kagee, A., Remien, R.H., Berkman, A., Hoffman, S., Campos, L. and Swartz, L. (2011) Structural barriers to ART adherence in Southern

Africa: challenges and potential ways forward, *Global Public Health*, 6(1), pp. 83-97

Kimambo, S.J., Mtei, L.N., Larson, R.J., Lymo, J.J. Bakari, M., Tvaroha, S., Adams, L.V., Pallangyo, K. and Fordham von Reyn, C. (2012) The influence of lipodystrophy and traditional medicine on ART adherence in Tanzania, *J Global Health*, pp.2166-3599 [Online] Available from: www.ghjournal.org/jgh-print/spring-2011-issue [Accessed 5 August 2012]

Kip, E., Ehlers, V.J. and van der Wal, D.M. (2009) Patients' adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Botswana, *J Nurs Scholarsh*, 41(2), pp. 149-57

Kipp, W., Konde-Lule, J., Rubaale, T., Okech-Ojony, J., Alibhai, A. and Saunders, D.L. (2011) Comparing antiretroviral treatment outcomes between a prospective community-based and hospital-based cohort of HIV patients in rural Uganda, *BMC Int Health and Hum Rights*, 11(suppl 2):S12 [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-698X/11/S2/S12</u> [Accessed 3 August 2012]

Knobel, H., Codina, C., Miro, J., Carmona, A., Garcia, B., Antela, A. Gomez,-Domingo, M.R., Arrizabalaga, J., Iruin, A., Laguna, F., Jimenez, I., Rubio, R., Liuch, A. and Viciana, P. (2000) GESIDA/SEFH/PNS recommendations for improving adherence to antiretroviral therapy, *Infecc Microbiol Clin*, 18, pp. 27-39.

Krebs, D.W., Chi, B.H., Mulenga, Y. Morris, M., Cantrell, R.A., Mulenga, L., Levy, J., Sinkala, M. and Stringer, J.S. (2008) Community-based followup for late patients enrolled in a district wide program for antiretroviral treatment in Lusaka, Zambia, *AIDS*, 20(3), pp. 311-7

Lanience, I., Ciss, M., Desclaux, A., Diop, K., Mbodj, F., Ndiaye, B. Sylla, O., Delaporte, E. and Ndoye, I. (2003) Adherence to HAART and its principal determinants in a cohort of Senegalese adults, *AIDS*, 17, pp. S103-S108. [Online]. Available from: htpp://www.archives.who.int/PRODUC2004/Bagamoyo/Lanience.pdf. [Accessed 5 June 2012]

Larson, H.J., Bertozzi, S. and Piot, P. (2011) Redesigning the AIDS response for long-term impact, *WHO Bulletin*, 89, pp. 846-852. Doi10.2471/BLT.11.087114. [Online] Available from: www.who.int/bulletin/volumes89/11/11-087114/en. [Accessed 2 August 2012]

Lester, R.T., Ritvo, P., Mills, E.J., Kariri, A., Sarah, K., Chungi, M.H., Jack, W., Habyarimana, J., Sadatsatavi, M., Najafzadeh, M., Marra, C., Estambale, B., Ngugi, E., Ball, T.B., Thabane, L., Gelmon, L.J., Kimani, J., Ackers, M. and Plummer, F.A. (2010) Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTelKenya1): a randomised trial, Lancet, 376, pp. 1838-45

Lymo, R., Boogaard, J., Msoka, E. Hospers, H., van der Ven, A., Mushi, D. And de Bruin, M. (2011) Measuring adherence to antiretroviral therapy in northern Tanzania: feasibility and acceptability of the medication event monitoring system, *BMC Public Health*, 11, pp. 92 [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/92</u>. [Accessed 3 March 2012]

MacQuarrie, K., Eclchaus, T., and Nyblade, L. (2009) HIV-related stigma and discrimination: a summary of recent literature, UNAIDS. [Online]. Available from: http://www.data.unaids.org/pub/Report/2009/20091130 stigmasummary

en.pdf. [Accessed 28 July 2012]

Mannheimer, S.B., Morse, E., Matts, J.P., Andrews, L., Child, C., Schmetter, B. and Friedland, G.H. (2006a) Sustained benefit from a long-term antiretroviral adherence intervention: results of a large randomized clinical trial, *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 43, pp s41-s47

Mannheimer, S.B., Mukherjee, R., Hirschhom, L.R., Doughety, J., Celano, S.A., Ciccarone, D. Graham, K.K., Mantell, J.E., Mundy, L.M., Eldred, L., Botsko, M. and Finkelstein, R. (2006b) The CASE adherence index: a novel method for measuring adherence to antiretroviral therapy, *AIDS Care*, 18(7), pp. 853-861.

Merten, S., Kenter, E., McKenzie, O., Musheke, M., Ntalasha, H. and Martin-Hilber, A. (2010) Patient-reported barriers and drivers of adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Sub-Saharan Africa: a metaethnography, *J Trop Medic and inter Health*, 15(1), pp. 16-33

Messou, E., Gabillard, D., Moh, R., Inwoley, A., Sorho, S., Eholie, S. Rouet, F., Seyler, C., Danel, C. and Anglaret X. (2008) Anthropometric and immunological success of ART and prediction of viralogical success in west African adults, *Bulletin WHO*, 86, pp. 435-442

Miller, L.G. and Hays, R.D. (2000) Measuring adherence to antiretroviral medications in clinical trials, *HIV Clinical Trials*, 1(1), pp. 36-46

Mills, E.J., Nachega, J.B., Buchan, I. Orbinski, J., Attaran, A, Singh, S., Rachlis, B., Wu, P., Cooper, C., Thabane, L., Wilson, K., Guyatt, G.H. and Bangsberg, D.R. (2006) Adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Sub-Saharan Africa and North America: a Meta-analysis, *J American Medical Assoc* 269, pp. 6 [Online]. Available from: www.who.int/hiv/events/artprevention/mills.pdf. [Accessed 13 August 2012]

MoH (Ministry of Health) (2011) Zanzibar health policy, Zanzibar: Stationary Office

Molly, M.R. and Zhang, X. (2011) The world medicines situation 2011, Traditional medicines: global situation, issues and challenges, WHO, Geneva, [Online]. Available from: www.who.int/medicines/areas/policy/world medicines situation/en/index. html [Accessed 7 August 2012]

Monjok, E., Smesny, A., Okokon, I.B., Mgbere, O. and Wssien, E.J (2010) Adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Nigeria: an overview of research studies and implications for policy and practice, *HIV/AIDS-Research and Palliative Care*, 2, pp. 69-76

Mugusi, F., Mugusi, S., Bakari, M., Hejdemann, B. Josiah, R., Janabi, M., Aboud, S., Aris, E., Swai, H., Mhalu, F., Biberfeld, G., Pallangyo, K. and Sandstrom, E. (2009). Enhancing adherence to antiretroviral therapy at the HIV clinic in resource constrained countries, the Tanzania experience, *J Trop Med & Int Health*, 14(10), pp. 1226-1232

Nakiyemba, A., Aurugai, D.A., Kwasa, R. and Thomas, O. (2004) Factors that facilitate or constrain adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adults in Uganda: a pre-intervention study [online] Available from http://archive.who.int/produ2004/Book/Uganda FINAL [Accessed on 8 March 2012]

NBS (National Bureau of Statistics and ICF macro) (2011a) Tanzania demographic and health survey 2010: Dar es Salaam, Tanzania NBS and ICF macro: Stationary Office

NBS (National Bureau of Statistics) (2008) Tanzania HIV and malaria indicator survey 2007-08, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Stationary Office

NBS (National Bureau of Statistics) (2011b) Tanzania in figures, MoFEA Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Stationary Office

NBS (National Bureau of Statistics) and ORC macro (2005) Tanzania household budget survey 2004-2005, Dar es Salaam

Ncaca, L., Kranzer, K. and Orrell, C. (2011) Treatment interruption and variation in tablet taking behaviour result in viral failure: a case-control study from Cape Town, South Africa, *Plos One*, 6(8), pp. e23088. Dol:10.1371/journal.pone.0023088

Ndubuka, N.O. and Ehlers, V.J. (2011) Adult patients' adherence to antiretroviral treatment: a survey correlating pharmacy refill records and pill counts with immunological and viralogical indices, *Intern Journ of Nurses Studies*; 48, pp. 1323-1329.

Nsimba, S.E.D., Irunde, H. and Comoro, C. (2010) Barriers to ARV adherence among HIV/AIDS positive persons taking antiretroviral therapy

in two Tanzania regions 8-12 months after program initiation, J AIDS Clinic Res, 1:111, doi:10.4172/2155-6113.1000111

Okonkwoh, C. (2011) Factors affecting antiretroviral treatment adherence among young adults living with HIV/AIDS in Yaba, Lagos, Nigeria: a qualitative study. Master thesis, Wageningen University [Online]. Available from: http://www.edepot.wur.nl/202013. [Accessed 20 July 2012]

Paterson, D., Swindells, S., Mohr, J., Bester, M., Vergis, E., Squier, C., Wgener, M.M. and Singh, N. (2000) Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcome in patients with HIV infection, *Ann Intern Med*, 133, pp. 21-30.

Peltzer, K., Preez, N.F., Ramlagan, S. and Anderson, J. (2010). Antiretroviral treatment adherence among HIV patients in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *BMC Public Health*; 10:111 [online] Available from: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/10/111</u> [Accessed 3 August 2012]

Penn, C., Watermeyer, J. and Evans, M. (2011) Why don't patients take their drugs? The role of communication, context and culture in patient adherence and the work of the pharmacist in HIV/AIDS, *Patient Education and Counselling*, 83, pp. 310-318.

Pop-Eleches, C., Thirumurthy, H., Habyarimana, J.P., Zivin, J.G., Goldstein, M.P., Walque de, D., Mackeen, L., Haberer, J., Simaiyo, S., Sidle, J., Ngare, D. and Bangsberg, D.R. (2011) Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource limited settings: a randomised controlled trial of text message reminder, *AIDS*, 25(6), pp. 825-834

Ramadhan, H., Thielman, N., Landman, K., Ndosi, E., Jennifer, L., Shah, R., Shao, H.J., Morpeth, S.C., MaNaill, J.D., Shao, J.F, Bertlett, J.A. and Crump, J.A. (2007) Predictors of incomplete adherence, virological failure, and antiretroviral drug resistance among HIV-infected adults receiving antiretroviral therapy in Tanzania, *J Infectious Disease Society of America*, 45, pp. 1492-8. [Online] Available from: http://cid.oxfordjournals.org. [Accessed 15 February 2012]

Reda, A.A. and Biadgilign, S. (2011) Determinants of adherence to antiretroviral therapy among HIV-infected patients in Africa, *AIDS Research and Treatment*, 2012 (8), pp. dol:10, 1155/2052/574656

RGoZ (Revolutionary Government of Zanzibar) (2005) Household budget survey, MoFEA, Zanzibar: Stationary Office

RGoZ (Revolutionary Government of Zanzibar) (2006) Zanzibar HIV and AIDS policy, MoH, Zanzibar: Stationary Office

RGoZ (Revolutionary Government of Zanzibar) (2009) Zanzibar human development report: towards pro poor growth, MoFEA, Zanzibar: Stationary Office [Online] Available from: <a href="http://www.zifa.ac.tz/data/ZPHDR.pdf">www.zifa.ac.tz/data/ZPHDR.pdf</a> [Accessed 25 April 2012]

Robinson, M.M. and Zhang, X. (2011) Traditional medicines: global situation, issues and challenges, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition: WHO, Geneva

Roca, B., Lapuebla, C. and Vidal-Tegedor, B. (2004) HAART with didanosine once versus twice daily: adherence and efficacy, *Inter Journal of Infec Diseases*, 9, pp.195-200

Rougemont, M., Stoll, B.E., Elia, N. and Ngang, P. (2009) Antiretroviral treatment adherence and its determinants in Sub-Saharan Africa: a prospective study at Yqaounde Central Hospital, Cameroon. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, 6, pp. 21. [Online]. Available from <a href="http://www.aidsrestherapy.com/content/pdf/1742-6405-6-21-pdf">http://www.aidsrestherapy.com/content/pdf/1742-6405-6-21-pdf</a>. [Accessed 23 May 2012]

Roura, M., Busza, J., Wringe, A., Mbata, D., Urassa, M. and Zaba, B. (2009) Barriers to sustaining antiretroviral treatment in Kisesa, Tanzania: a follow-up study to understand attrition from the antiretroviral program, *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 23(3), doi:10.1089/apc.2008.0129

Russell, J., Krantz, S. and Neville, S (2004) The patient-provider relationship and adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy, *J Assoc. of Nurs in AIDS Care*, 15(5), pp. 40-47

Sanjobo, W., Frich, J.C. and Fretheim, A. (2008) Barriers and facilitators to patients' adherence to antiretroviral therapy treatment in Zambia: a qualitative study, *SAHARA J*, 5(3), pp. 136-43

Sethi, A.K., Celentano, D.D., Gange, S.J., Moore, R.D. and Gallant, J.E. (2003) Association between adherence to antiretroviral therapy and human immunodeficiency virus drug resistance, *Clinical Infe Disease*, 37, pp. 1112-8 [online] Available from: <u>http://cid.oxfordjournals.org</u> [Accessed 4 April 2012]

Shumbusho, F., van Griensven, J., Lowrance, D., Turate, T., Weaver, M.A., Price, J. and Binagwano, A. (2009) Task shifting for scale-up of HIV care: evaluation of nurse-cantered antiretroviral treatment at rural health centres in Rwanda, *Plose Medicine*, 6(10), e1000163

Skovdal, M., Campbell, C., Nhongo, K., Nyamukapa, C. and Gregson, S. (2011) Contextual and psychosocial influences on antiretroviral therapy adherence in rural Zimbabwe: towards a systematic framework for program planners, *Int. J Health Plann Mgmt*, 26, pp.296-318

Talam, N.C., Gatongi, P., Rotich, J. and Kimaiyo, S. (2008) Factors affecting antiretroviral drug adherence among HIV/AIDS adult patients attending HIV/AIDS clinic at MOI teaching and referral Hospital, Eldoret, Kenya, *East Afr Jour of Public Health*, 5(2), pp. 74-8.

TCRA (Tanzania Communication and Regulatory Authority) (2012) *Quarter 3 report March 2012* [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.tcra.go.tz/publications/telecom.html</u>. [Accessed 14 August 2012]

Tiendrebeogo, L.J. (2008) Understanding the determinants of adherence and the evolving challenges to HAART among people receiving free antiretroviral drugs at the medical centre of Pissy in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso. Master thesis, Royal Tropical Institute

Tiyou, A., Belachew, T., Alemseged, F. and Biadgilign, S. (2010) Predictors of adherence to antiretroviral therapy among people living with HIV/AIDS in resource-limited settings of southwest Ethiopia, *AIDS research and Therapy*, 7, pp.39 [online] Available from: http://www.aidsrestherapy.com/content/7/39 [Accessed 2 august 2012]

Tunner, B.J. (2002) Adherence to antiretroviral therapy by human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients, *J Infect Disease*, 185(Suppl 2), pp. S143-51. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://jid.oxfordjournals.org</u> [Accessed 4 April 2012]

Ubel, K.E., Fairall, L.R., van Rensburg, D.H.C.J., Mollentze, W.F., Bachmann, M.O., Lewin, S., Zwarenstein, M., Colvin, C.J., Georgeu, D., Mayer, P., Fans, G.M., Lambard, C. and Bateman, E.D. (2011) Task shifting and integration of HIV care into primary care in South Africa: the development and content of the streamlining tasks and roles to expand treatment and care for HIV (STRETCH) intervention, *BioMedCentral*, 6, pp. 86 [Online] Available from: http://www.implementationscience.com/content/6/1/86. [Accessed 30 July 2012]

UNGAS (2012) Country progress report, Tanzania commission for AIDS and Zanzibar AIDS commission, Tanzania: Stationary office [online] Available from:

www.unaids.org/en/dataanalysis/knowyourresponse/countryprogressrepo rts/2012countries/ce\_TZ\_Narrative\_Report [Accessed 20 June 2012]

Unge, C., Sodergard, B., Morrone, G., Thormson, A., Lukhwaro, A., Carter, J., Ilako, F. and Ekstrom, A.M. (2010) Long-term adherence to antiretroviral treatment and program drop-out in a high-risk setting in Sub-Saharan Africa: a prospective cohort study, *PloseOne*, 5(10), e13613: doi.10.1371/journal.pone.0013613

Uzonchukwu, B.S.C., Onwujekwe, O.E., Onoka, A.C., Okoli, C., Uguru, N.P. and Chukwuogo, O.I (2009) Determinants of non-adherence to subsidized antiretroviral treatment in Southeast Nigeria, *Health Policy and Planning*, doi:10.1093/heapol/C2p006 [Online] Available from: http://heapol.oxfordjournals.org [Accessed 10 March 2012]

Vervoort, S.C.J.M., Borleffs, J.C.C., Hoepelman, A.I.M., Grypdonck, M.H.F., (2007) Adherence in antiretroviral therapy: a review of qualitative studies, *AIDS*, 21(3), pp. 271-281 [Online]. Available from: http://www.journals.Iww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2007/01300/Adherence \_\_in\_antiretroviral\_therapy\_a\_review\_of\_l.aspx [Accessed 30 June 2012]

Wang, H., Zhou, J., He, G., Luo, Y., Li, X., Yang, A., Fennie, K. and Williams, A.B. (2009) Consistent ART adherence is associated with improved quality of life, CD4 counts, and reduced hospital costs in Central China, *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, 25, pp. 8

Wanjohi, A.N. (2009) Factors that influence non-adherence to antiretroviral therapy among HIV and AIDS patients in Central province, Kenya, Master thesis, Kenyatta University. [Online]. Available from: www2.aau.org/aur-hiv-aids/docs/students/nyambura\_anthony.pdf. [Accessed 7 February 2012]

Ware, N.C., Idoko, J., Kaaya, S., Biraro, I.A., Wyatt, M.A., Agbaji, O., Chalamilla, G. and Bandsberg, D.R. (2009) Explaining adherence success in Sub-Saharan Africa: an ethnographic study, *Plos Med*, 6(1), e1000011, doi:10.1371/journal.pmed,1000011. [Online]. Available from: www.plosmedicine.org/article/info:doi/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000011 [Accessed 6 August 2012]

Watt, M.H. (2007) Understanding patients' adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a mixed methods study in Arusha, Tanzania. PhD thesis, University of North Carolina. [Online] Available from: <u>https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/indexablecontent?id=uuid...20f4</u>. [Accessed 27 May 2012]

Watt, M.H., Maman, S., Earp, J.A., Eng, E., Setel, P.W., Golin, C. and Jaconson, M. (2009) "It's all the time in my mind": facilitators of adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Tanzania setting, *Social Science & Medicine*; 68:pp.1793-1800.

Weberschock, T., Gholam, P., Hueter, E., Flux, K., Centers, S. and Hertmann, M. (2009) Long-term efficiency and safety of one-daily nevirapine in combination with renofovir and emtricitabine in the treatment of HIV-infected patients: a 72-week prospective multicenter study (Tenor-Trial), *Eur J Med Res*, 14, pp. 516-519 [Online]. Available from: <u>www.eurjmedres.com/content/pdf/2047-783X-14-12-516</u> [Accessed 7 August 2012] Weidle, P.J., Wamai, N., Solberg, P., Linenchty, C., Sendagala, S., Were, W., Mermin, J., Buchacz, K., Behumbiize, P., Ransom, R. and Bunnell, R. (2006) Adherence to antiretroviral therapy in a home-based AIDS care program in rural Uganda, *Lancet*, 368, pp. 1587-94

Weinreich, S. and Benn, C. (2004) AIDS – meeting the challenge: data, facts, background, World council of churches, Geneva 2, Switzerland; 2004

Weiser, S., Wolfe, W., Bangsberg, D., Thior, I. and Gilbert, P. (2003) Barriers to antiretroviral adherence for patients living with HIV infection and AIDS in Botswana, *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 3, pp. 281-288

Weiser, S.D., Guller, D.M., Frongilo, E.A., Senkungu, J., Mukiibi, N. and Bangsberg, D.R. (2010) Food insecurity as a barrier to sustained antiretroviral therapy adherence in Uganda, *PlosOne*, 5(4), e10340, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010340. [Online]. Available from: <u>www.plosone.org/article/infodoi%2f10.1371%Fjournal.pone.0010340</u>. [Accessed 31 July 2012]

Wekesa, E. (2007) ART adherence in resource poor settings in Sub-Saharan Africa: a multi-disciplinary review [online] Available from: <u>http://www.uaps2007.princetonedu/download.aspx?submissionId=70123</u> [accessed 4 January 2012]

WHO, UNAIDS, UNICEF (2011) Global HIV/AIDS response: epidemic updates and health sector progress towards universal access. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/progress report2011/en.pdf</u>. [Accessed 7 December 2011]

Wools-Kaloustian, K.K., Sidle, J.E., Selke, H.M., Vedanthan, R., Kemboi, E.K., Biot, L.J., Jebet, V.T., Carroll, A.E., Tierney, W.M. and Kimaiyo, S. (2009) A model for extending antiretroviral care beyond the rural health centre, *BMC J Int. AIDS Society*, doi:10.1186/1758-2652-12-22. [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.jiasociety.org/content/12/1/22</u> [Accessed 3 August 2012]

World Health Organization (2003) Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action, WHO, Geneva-Switzerland [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/chp/knowledge/publications/adherence full report.pd</u> <u>f</u>. [Accessed 3 February 2012]

World health organization (2006a) Antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection in adults and adolescents in resource-limited settings: towards universal access. Recommendations for a public health approach. WHO, Geneva-Switzerland

World health organization (2006b) Patient monitoring guidelines for HIV care and antiretroviral therapy (ART), WHO, Geneva-Switzerland

World Health Organization (2008) Task shifting: rational redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams; Geneva-Switzerland

World health organization (2010) HIV drug resistance early warning indicators: world health organization indicators to monitor HIV drug resistance prevention at antiretroviral therapy sites, WHO, Geneva-Switzerland

Wouters, E., VanDamme, W., van Rensburg, D., Masquillier, C. and Meulemans, H. (2012) Impact of community-based support services on antiretroviral treatment program delivery and outcome in resourcelimitted countries: a systematic review, *BMC*, 12:194 doi:10.1186/1472-6963 – 12 – 194. [online]. Available from: www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/12/194. [Accessed 30 August 2012]

ZAC (Zanzibar AIDS Commission) (2011) Zanzibar national HIV strategic plan II 2011-2016, Zanzibar: Stationary Office

ZACP (Zanzibar AIDS Control Program) (2011) Care and treatment annual report, MoH, Zanzibar

### Annexes

#### Annex 1: consent forms

## **A. Informed Consent for respondents in IDIs**

### Study Introduction and purpose:

Good morning/afternoon, my name is **Amina Saleh**. I am currently pursuing my master degree at Royal Tropical Institute, in Netherlands. I am conducting this research to explore factors enhancing ARV users to adhere on their treatment. This research also intends to find out factors that hinder adherence among other PLHIV on ART. I am requesting for your participation in this research, in order to learn your experience about factors influencing adherence to ART treatment. It will be helpful also if you can share what you felt could be the solution to improve adherence among PLHIV on ATR here in Mnazi Mmoja. This will facilitate the proposal of appropriate recommendations to improve adherence among patients.

#### Procedure:

The discussion will last for 60 minutes. You will be requested to provide information on how people adhere to their treatments as well as possible factors that lead to non-adherence of ART among PLHIV. Some information that you will be requested to share includes perceptions, knowledge, beliefs, attitudes and experiences on taking ARV drugs. Factors related to treatment, facility, socio-economic and individual patient that could influence adherence or non-adherence to ART will also be asked. Anonymity of all collected information has been given special concern and there is no way that your name could be mentioned. Whenever necessary codes will be used to indicate all particulars that will appear could disclose your information. During our conversation my colleague will take some notes and tape record for compilation of report, so that your permission is very important. After data has been analyzed and compilation of the findings has taken place, the gathered information from transcripts and tapes will be destroyed. In the meantime all information will be stored securely by the researcher.

#### Right to withdraw:

If you feel uncomfortable during the discussion you are free to terminate your participation or refuse to respond to any of the questions. Even if you refuse to participate you will still get services and no one will react at anyway.

#### Benefits:

The study findings will be shared with Mnazi Mmoja CTC management, Zanzibar Ministry of Health, urban district health management team and Zanzibar AIDS Control Program. The findings will be also shared with other players of HIV and AIDS such as ZAPHA+ and ZANA. The recommendations made will be available to these authorities for proper planning and policy effects. You will be also provided with feedback of the study findings and the measures that you could take to improve adherence.

#### Contacts:

If you have any question please feel free to ask and for future contacts the following address can be used:

Name: Amina M. Saleh. Email: <u>maminam@yahoo.com</u>; mobile: +255 777 830996

Do you agree to participate in this study? If you agree please sign below.

Interviewer's	Signature:	 Respondent's	signature:

Date:....

Date: .....

## **B.** Informed consent for FGDs to PLHIV on ART

## Study Introduction and purpose:

Good morning/afternoon, my name is **Amina Saleh.** I am currently pursuing my master degree at Royal Tropical Institute, the Netherlands. I am conducting this research to explore factors enhancing ARV users to adhere on their treatment. This research also intends to find out factors that hinder adherence among other PLHIV on ART. I am requesting for your participation in this research, in order to learn your experience about factors influencing or hinder adherence to ART treatment. There is no wrong or good answer; it is our experiences that count most. It will be helpful also if you can share what you felt could be the solution to improve adherence among PLHIV on ATR here at Mnazi Mmoja. This will facilitate the proposal of appropriate recommendations to improve adherence.

### Procedure:

The discussion will last for 90 minutes. You will be requested to provide information on how people adhere to their treatments as well as possible factors that lead to non-adherence of ART among PLHIV on ART. Some information that you will be requested to share includes perceptions, knowledge, beliefs, attitudes and experiences on taking ARV drugs. Factors related to treatment, facility, socio-economic and individual patient that could influence non-adherence to ART treatment will also be asked. Anonymity of all collected information has been given special concern and there is no way that your name could be mentioned. Whenever necessary codes will be used to indicate all particulars that will appear could disclose your information. However, because this is focus group discussion researcher invites all participants to understand that people share their own stories to contribute to the research objectives. It is important for all of us to leave whatever we have discussed within this room; it will be not wise to share outside what have been discussed here.

During our conversation my colleague will take some notes and tape record for compilation of report, so that your permission is very important. After data has been analysed and compilation of the findings has taken place, the gathered information from transcripts and tapes will be destroyed. In the meantime all information will be stored securely.

## Right to withdraw:

If you feel uncomfortable during the discussion you are free to terminate your participation or refuse to respond to any of the questions. Even if you refuse to participate you will still get services and no one will react at anyway.

## Benefits:

The study findings will be shared with Mnazi Mmoja CTC management, Zanzibar Ministry of Health, Urban district health management team and Zanzibar AIDS Control Program. The findings will be also shared with other players of HIV and AIDS such as ZAPHA+ and ZANA. The recommendations made will be available to these authorities for proper planning and policy effects. You will be also provided with feedback of the study findings and the measures that you could take to improve adherence.

### Contacts:

If you have any question please feel free to ask and for future contacts the following address can be used:

Name: Amina M. Saleh; E-mail: <u>maminam@yahoo.com</u>; Mobile: +255 777 830996

Do you agree to participate in this study? If you agree please sign below.

Interviewer's signature:	Group member's signature:

Date.....

Date: .....

Note: Each participant from the group signed the consent form separately.

### **Annex 2: Study instruments**

#### Instruments to be used for data collection

The topic guides for each category of respondents will be used to guide the interviews. These will include:

- i. Guideline 1: in-depth interview with doctor
- ii. Guideline 2: in-depth interview with pharmacist
- iii. Guideline 3: in-depth interview with counsellor
- iv. Guideline 4: in-depth interview with CTC in-charge
- v. Guideline 5: in-depth interview with non-adherent PLHIV
- vi. Guideline 6: in-depth interview with adherent PLHIV

#### 1. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for a doctor

#### a) Cover sheet:

Name of interviewer:
Date of interview:
Interview code:
Age interval of the respondent:
Sex of the respondent:
Involved in the program since:
Received trainings on ART:
Comment concerning the received training(s):

Note: Interviewer will first greet the respondent (to create rapport). A brief introduction will be provided on the purpose of the study. Interviewer will emphasize on the confidentiality and will request the respondent to sign the consent form.

# b) Topic guide:

The experiences and literatures indicate that adherence to treatment among PLHIV on ART facing a lot of challenges. It true that some of patients can adhere but there are some who find it difficult. Could you please share your experience concerning factors that enhance and hinder patients' to adhere to their ART? [Allow respondent to explain and you can probe on the following]:

- Influence of costs/distance to clinic/ waiting time for the patients on treatment adherence
- How family and social support or adherence aid could improve adherence
- Duration on treatment, food and hunger, disclosure pattern, stigma, side effects, knowledge of patients and their beliefs on HIV/AIDS and ART
- Attitudes towards treatments (perceived wellbeing with disappearing/cessation of symptoms) as well as risk behaviours such as smoking, alcohol and drug use
- Patient-provider relationship, confidentiality (facility and provider related)

How can you compare/differentiate these factors among?

i) Men and women: ii) Young and elders: iii) new and older patients: iv) according to their educational levels: v) where they are living

## Section I: Treatment and procedures

1) Which treatment guidelines are you using for ART treatments? (e.g. national guidelines)

2) Which problems are you facing concerning the drugs you are prescribing? [Probe: e.g. drug stock out (a) why does it happen (b) For how long does the problem normally take (c) How often are these problems faced, (d) Which mechanisms in place to solve these problems]

3) What are your procedures when new patients start ART? (Probe for details on information given to the patients concerning adherence, adverse side effects, diet, personal lifestyle (alcohol/drug use or smoking), timing of the dose, refills, drugs interactions, advantages of ART, consequences of non-adherence to the treatment, prevention of STIs)

4) Which strategies are in place for continuous support of your patients to improve their adherence to ART? (If necessary probe on monitoring of therapeutic effectiveness, adverse side effects, drug resistance)

### Section II: challenges faced and suggestions for improvement:

5) Generally what challenges are you and your colleagues are facing in supporting your patients to adhere to their ART treatment? (If necessary probe on workload, lack of motivation, stress, burnout)

6) What do you do when it happens that you afraid from being infected with HIV when you provide services to PLHIV?

7) Do you have any comments on how to improve the program in order to increase and maintain optimal adherence levels among ART patients?

## Thank you for your time and good cooperation

### 2. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for pharmacist

### a) Cover sheet:

Name of interviewer:
Date of interview:
Interview code:
Age interval of the respondent:
Sex of the respondent:
Involved in the program since:
Received trainings on ART:
Comment concerning the received training(s):

.....

Note: Interviewer will first greet the respondent (to create rapport). A brief introduction will be provided on the purpose of the study. Interviewer will emphasize on the confidentiality and will request the respondent to sign the consent form.

# b) Topic guide:

The experiences and literatures indicate that adherence to treatment among PLHIV on ART facing a lot of challenges. It true that some of patients can adhere but there are some who find it difficult. Could you please share your experience concerning factors that enhance and hinder patients' to adhere to their ART? [Allow respondent to explain and you can probe on the following]:

- Influence of costs/distance to clinic/ waiting time for the patients on treatment adherence
- How family and social support or adherence aid could improve adherence
- Duration on treatment, food and hunger, disclosure pattern, stigma, side effects, knowledge of patients and their beliefs on HIV/AIDS and ART
- Attitudes towards treatments (perceived wellbeing with disappearing/cessation of symptoms) as well as risk behaviours such as smoking, alcohol and drug use
- Patient-provider relationship, confidentiality (facility and provider related)

How can you compare/differentiate these factors among?

i) Men and women: ii) Young and elders: iii) new and older patients: iv) according to their educational levels: v) where they are living

## Section I: Treatment and procedures

1) Which treatment guidelines are you using for ART treatments? (e.g. national guidelines)

2) Which problems are you facing concerning the drugs you are dispensing? [Probe: e.g. drug stock out (a) why does it happen (b) For how long does the problem normally take (c) How often are these problems faced, (d) Which mechanisms in place to solve these problems]

3) What are your procedures when new patients start ART? (Probe for details on information given to the patients concerning adherence, adverse side effects, diet, personal lifestyle (alcohol/drug use or smoking), timing of the dose, refills, drugs interactions, advantages of ART, consequences of non-adherence to the treatment, prevention of STIs)

4) Which strategies are in place for continuous support of your patients to improve their adherence to ART? (If necessary probe on monitoring of therapeutic effectiveness, adverse side effects, drug resistance)

### Section II: challenges faced and suggestions for improvement:

5) Generally what challenges are you and your colleagues are facing in supporting your patients to adhere to their ART treatment? (If necessary probe on workload, lack of motivation, stress, burnout)

6) What do you do when it happens that you afraid from being infected with HIV when you provide services to PLHIV?

7) Do you have any comments on how to improve the program in order to increase and maintain optimal adherence levels among ART patients?

### Thank you for your time and good cooperation

#### **3. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for a counsellor**

### a) Cover sheet:

Name of interviewer:
Date of interview:
Interview code:
Age interval of the respondent:
Sex of the respondent:
Involved in the program since:
Received trainings on ART:
Comment concerning the received training(s):

Note: Interviewer will first greet the respondent (to create rapport). A brief introduction will be provided on the purpose of the study. Interviewer will emphasize on the confidentiality and will request the respondent to sign the consent form.
#### b) Topic guide:

The experiences and literatures indicate that adherence to treatment among PLHIV on ART facing a lot of challenges. It true that some of patients can adhere but there are some who find it difficult. Could you please share your experience concerning factors that enhance and hinder patients' to adhere to their ART? [Allow respondent to explain and you can probe on the following]:

- Influence of costs/distance to clinic/ waiting time for the patients on treatment adherence
- How family and social support or adherence aid could improve adherence
- Duration on treatment, food and hunger, disclosure pattern, stigma, side effects, knowledge of patients and their beliefs on HIV/AIDS and ART
- Attitudes towards treatments (perceived wellbeing with disappearing/cessation of symptoms) as well as risk behaviours such as smoking, alcohol and drug use
- Patient-provider relationship, confidentiality (facility and provider related)

How can you compare/differentiate these factors among?

i) Men and women: ii) Young and elders: iii) new and older patients: iv) according to their educational levels: v) where they are living

#### Section I: Treatment and procedures

1) Which treatment guidelines are you using for ART treatments? (e.g. national guidelines)

2) Which problems are you facing concerning treatment support? [Probe: (a) what type of problem (treatment education, side effect management, counselling) (b) How often are these problems faced, (c) Which mechanisms in place to help solve these problems]

3) What are your procedures when new patients start ART? (Probe for details on information given to the patients concerning adherence, adverse side effects, diet, personal lifestyle (alcohol/drug use or smoking), timing of the dose, refills, drugs interactions, advantages of ART, consequences of non-adherence to the treatment, prevention of STIs)

4) Which strategies are in place for continuous support of your patients to improve their adherence to ART? (If necessary probe on monitoring of therapeutic effectiveness, adverse side effects, drug resistance)

#### Section II: challenges faced and suggestions for improvement:

5) Generally what challenges are you and your colleagues are facing in supporting your patients to adhere to their ART treatment? (If necessary probe on workload, lack of motivation, stress, burnout)

6) What do you do when it happens that you afraid from being infected with HIV when you provide services to PLHIV?

7) Do you have any comments on how to improve the program in order to increase and maintain optimal adherence levels among ART patients?

#### Thank you for your time and good cooperation

#### 4. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for a CTC in-charge

#### a) Cover sheet:

Name of interviewer: .....

Date of interview: .....

Interview code:

Time in the program: .....

Note: Interviewer will first greet the respondent (to create rapport). A brief introduction will be provided on the purpose of the study. Interviewer will emphasize on the confidentiality and will request the respondent to sign the consent form.

The issues will merely on the management and how it emphasize adherence to the enrolled PLHIV on ART treatment in the centre. These will include with other issues strategies in place to encourage, monitor and improve adherence among their patients. The provided questions will guide the conversation but whenever appropriate interviewer will probe to gain more insights.

#### b) Topic guide:

General speaking could you please tell me on what you think could contribute to treatment adherence among PLHIV on ART in this clinic?

Could you also share that why some other PLHIV on ART are not adhering to their treatments?

#### Section I: General information about the capacity of the clinic

Could you please share with me the following issues concerning services provision in your centre?

When this CTC did started provision of ART services?

1. Which problems are you facing that you think could affect quality of services in your centre? [Probe on: number of staff with their tasks involved in ART services provision against average number of patients to be served per day, knowledge and skills of staff providing ART services (trainings received)]

2. Which references (guidelines) is your centre use in the provision of ART services?

#### Section II: drug supplies

3. Could you please share your experience on the drug supplies in your centre? [Probe on the stock out, how it affects refills, strategies in place to ensure availability and sustainability of ART supply]

#### Section III: experience in patients' treatment adherence

4. How do you monitor and report treatment adherence for your patients? [Probe on the monitoring and reporting system]

5. Which strategies have you developed to ensure optimal adherence among the PLHIV you have enrolled into ART services?

6. Apart of what you are currently doing what do you think that you can improve to increase treatment adherence among your patients?

#### 5. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for non-adherent PLHIV

#### a) Cover sheet

Note: PLHIV on ART will be initially contacted at ART clinic, but the interviews will be carried out at another place. Either within the hospital or outside depends on the convenient of the respondents.

Interviewer will great the respondent (to create rapport). Respondents will be introduced with purpose of the study and emphasized on the confidentiality in their consent form. They will also be requested to sign the consent form.

Name of interviewer											
Date of interview											
Interview code											
Date of starting ART											
Socio-demographic information											
a) Sex 🗌 Male 🗌 Female											
b) Age  20 - 30 years  31 - 40 - 50											
<u> </u>											
c) Education none primary secondary University											
or college											
d) Employments [] Unemployed [] colf employed											
a) Employment. 🔄 onemployed 🔄 sen employed											
Employed by government Employed in private											

### b) Topic guide

#### A. Socio-economic & community

Generally experience indicate that adherence to ART among PLHIV is a challenge. There are some who have good adherence but some find it difficult due to number of reasons. As it was in the introduction I would like you to share your experience as the user of these services [leave respondent to explain then after you can probe for the following].

1. How do you support your visits to attend the clinic appointments? [Probe for type of supports from family, community and friends]

2. Which kind of support do you receive concerning your ARV medication? [Probe for type of support from family, community and friends]

3. Who have you shared your HIV status? [Probe if this could be have any effect on the respondent's adherence to medication like rending for taking medicine]

4. At which situations have you ever feared or not able to take your ARV drugs? [Probe on fearing from being disclosed and stigmatized or lack of food/hunger]

5) Which kind of groups/program are you participating? [If necessary probe on: Post-test clubs, peer education, home based care, and how these groups/program support improvement of adherence to ART]

#### **B. Medical or treatment related**

6. Can you share your experience concerning the type of ARV drugs you are taking? [If appropriate probe on number, colour, size and smell of pills; dietary restriction, alcohol/substance use and smoking and side effects]

#### C. Structural related

7. Can you explain how do you feel about the services that you are receiving from this clinic? [Allow respondent to explain then if necessary probe on any payments on top of ARV drugs, effect of distance to clinic,, Relationship and interaction with staff, Support from the staff, waiting time, confidentiality and privacy when attended by counsellor or by doctor]

#### D. individual related

8. I would like to understand the experience, feelings and even challenges faced by people who are taking ARVs. Could you please share with me how do you spend your normal day? [Leisure time, substance use, smoking, drinking other alcohol

9. How do you feel since you have started taking ARV? [Probe on happiness, sadness, depressed; loneliness, stress]

10. Could you please share with me what you know about your ART treatment? [Allow respondent to explain then probe for prolong life, lifelong treatment, improve health status, side effects, risk of missing doses, importance of adherence to treatment]

11. Could you please tell me what do you do when you forget to take your ARV drugs?

12. Please share if you are aware on why some people are stopping using ART? [Probe on tiredness with medication, feeling better, use of alternative medicines]

13. What do you think can be done better to improve adherence among PLHIV on ART?

Do you have any question for me?

#### Thank you very much for your time and good collaboration

#### 6. Interview cover sheet and topic guide for adherent PLHIV

#### a) Cover sheet

Note: PLHIV on ART will be initially contacted at ART clinic, but the interviews will be carried out at another place. Either within the hospital or outside depends on the convenient of the respondents.

Interviewers will great the respondent (to create rapport). Respondents will be introduced with purpose of the study and emphasized on the confidentiality in their consent form. They will also be requested to sign the consent form.

### b) Topic guide

#### A. Socio-economic & community

Experience indicate that adherence to ART among PLHIV is a challenge. There are some who have good adherence but some find it difficult due to number of reasons. As it was in the introduction I would like you to share your experience as the users of these services and among those with good adherence.

1. How do you support your visits to attend the clinic appointments? [Probe if appropriate for type of supports from family, community and friends]

2. Which kind of supports do you receive concerning your ARV medication? [Probe for interpersonal relationship and type of support from family, community and friends]

3. Who have you shared your HIV status? [Probe if this could be have any effect on the respondent's adherence to medication like reminding for taking medicine]

4. At which situations have you ever feared or not able to take your ARV drugs? [Probe on fearing from being disclosed and stigmatized or lack of food/hunger]

5. Which kind of groups/program are you participating? [If necessary probe on: Post-test clubs, peer education, home based care, and how these groups/program support improvement of adherence to ART]

#### **B. Medical or treatment related**

6. Can you share your experience concerning the type of ARV drugs you are taking? [If appropriate probe on number, colour, size and smell of pills; dietary restriction, alcohol/substance use and smoking and side effects]

#### C. Structural related

7. Can you explain how do you feel about the services that you are receiving from this clinic? [Allow respondent to explain then if necessary probe on any payments on top of ARV drugs, Effect of distance to clinic, relationship and interaction with staff, Support from the staff, waiting time, confidentiality and privacy when attended by counsellor or by doctor]

#### D. individual related

8. I would like to understand the experience, feelings and even challenges faced by people who are taking ARVs. Could you please share with me

how do you spend your normal day? [Leisure time, substance use, smoking, drinking other alcohol

9. How do you feel since you have started taking ARV? [Probe on happiness, sadness, depressed; loneliness, stress]

10. Could you please share with me what you know about your ART treatment? [Allow respondent to explain then probe for prolong life, lifelong treatment, self-efficacy on medication, improve health status, side effects, risk of missing doses, knowledge on importance of adherence to treatment]

11. Could you please tell me what do you do when you forget to take your ARV drugs?

12. Please share if you are aware on why some people are stopping using ART? [Probe on tiredness with medication, feeling better, use of alternative medicines]

13. What do you think can be done better to improve adherence among PLHIV on ART?

#### Focus group discussion (FGD) for PLHIV on ART:

#### a) Cover sheet

Name of the moderator: .....

Name of the note taker: .....

FGD number: .....

Location (venue) of FGD: .....

Date: .....

**Note:** Participants will be 6-8 per FGD (men and women in separate groups of adherents and non-adherents)

Venue should be neutral outside the hospital. There will be a moderator and note taker and discussion will be audio recorded. Discussion will end up for at least 60 minutes and participants will be provided with refreshments. Moderator will great participants and explain the purpose of FGD. She will then read the consent form and ask participants for their agreement.

#### b) Topic guides

#### A. Socio-economic & community

Experience indicate that adherence to ART among PLHIV is a challenge. There are some who have good adherence but some find it difficult due to number of reasons. As it was in the introduction I would like you to share your experience as the users of these services and among those with good adherence.

1. How do you support your visits to attend the clinic appointments? [Probe if appropriate for type of supports from family, community and friends]

2. Which kind of supports do you receive concerning your ARV medication? [Probe for interpersonal relationship and type of support from family, community and friends]

3. Who have you shared your HIV status? [Probe if this could be have any effect on the respondent's adherence to medication like reminding for taking medicine]

4. At which situations have you ever feared or not able to take your ARV drugs? [Probe on fearing from being disclosed and stigmatized or lack of food/hunger]

5. Which kind of groups/program are you participating? [If necessary probe on: Post-test clubs, peer education, home based care, and how these groups/program support improvement of adherence to ART]

#### **B. Medical or treatment related**

73

6. Can you share your experience concerning the type of ARV drugs you are taking? [If appropriate probe on number, colour, size and smell of pills; dietary restriction, alcohol/substance use and smoking and side effects]

#### C. Structural related

7. Can you explain how do you feel about the services that you are receiving from this clinic? [Allow respondent to explain then if necessary probe on any payments on top of ARV drugs, Effect of distance to clinic, relationship and interaction with staff, Support from the staff, waiting time, confidentiality and privacy when attended by counsellor or by doctor]

#### D. individual related

8. I would like to understand the experience, feelings and even challenges faced by people who are taking ARVs. Could you please share with me how do you spend your normal day? [Leisure time, substance use, smoking, drinking other alcohol

9. How do you feel since you have started taking ARV? [Probe on happiness, sadness, depressed; loneliness, stress]

10. Could you please share with me what you know about your ART treatment? [Allow respondent to explain then probe for prolong life, lifelong treatment, self-efficacy on medication, improve health status, side effects, risk of missing doses, knowledge on importance of adherence to treatment]

11. Could you please tell me what do you do when you forget to take your ARV drugs?

12. Please share if you are aware on why some people are stopping using ART? [Probe on tiredness with medication, feeling better, use of alternative medicines]

13. What do you think can be done better to improve adherence among PLHIV on ART?

Do you have any question for me?

#### Thank you very much for your time and good collaboration

#### **Coversheet and topic guide for key respondents**

Name of interviewer: ..... Place of interview: ..... Date of interview: ..... Title of interviewee: ....

• Interviewer appropriately greets person to be interviewed, explains purpose of the interview.

• The main purpose of the interview is to find out factors that facilitate or deter ART adherence among adult PLHIV in Zanzibar

Below are guiding questions but interviewer shall probe for in-depth knowledge/information where relevant.

## As you may be aware that adherence to ART among PLHIV on treatment is a big challenge for effective results.

# If you have any idea I would like to know how many patients nationwide are presently on ART? [ZACP manager only]

a) Can you please share where do you source your ARVs? b) Who does the procurement procedures?

c) Do you always receive your order as at and when due?

d) If it happens there is inadequate stock, what do you do to overcome the situation?

e) What are long term measures do you have in place to ensure availability and sustainability of ARV supply?

### Can you please share your experience and knowledge about adult patients on ART and their adherence to the treatment in Zanzibar and at Mnazi Mmoja clinic in specific [Allow respondent to explain and then probe the following if necessary].

a) What factors facilitate some PLHIV to adhere optimally? [You can probe for self-efficacy, social support (reminder mechanism), effective adherence counselling, perceived benefit of medication, desire to stay alive for the sake of others, disclosure]

b) What do you think could be contributing factors for sub-optimal adherence among other patients? [Probe on stigma, accessibility of services (distance, cost), food and hunger, drug stock-out, attitude of health workers, confidentiality, forgetfulness, pill burden (too many pills), alternative medication, treatment fatigue, counselling services and drug stock out]

c) What strategies are in place to ensure patients receiving ARVs adhere well enough to their treatment?

### Given your experience with antiretroviral therapy program, is there anything you would like to see done differently?

a) Do you think there are opportunities for improvement in to enhance ART adherence among patients?

Do you have any question? Thank you for your valuable time and good cooperation

76

#### **Annex 3: Ethical clearances**



**Royal Tropical Institute** KIT Development Policy & Practice

contact Sabine de Groot Telephone +31 (0)20 568 8237 s.d.groot@kit.nl DEV ED | P.O. Box 95001, 1090 HA Amsterdam, The Netherlands Mrs. A. Saleh Linnaeusstraat 35F 1093 EE Amsterdam The Netherlands

Date Amsterdam June 6<sup>th</sup>, 2012 Our reference S35 - Research Ethics Committee 2012 Subject Research Ethics Committee review

Dear Mrs. Saleh,

The Research Ethics Committee of the Royal Tropical Institute has reviewed your revised proposal titled "*Exploring factors affecting adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV in Zanzibar (Tanzania): a case of Mnazi Mmoja hospital care and treatment centre*" (S35A).

The decision of the Committee is as follows:

The Committee has reviewed this revised version and is pleased to see that you have addressed most requested clarifications and amendments to our full satisfaction.

The Committee is of the opinion that the proposal meets the required ethical standards for research and herewith grants you ethical approval to implement the study as planned in de afore mentioned protocol.

Kind regards,

Mrs. L. Blok, Mph

Chair Research Ethics Committee

Linnaeusstraat 35F 1093 EE Amsterdam P.O. Box 95001 1090 HA Amsterdam The Netherlands Fax +31 (0)20 668 4579 www.klt.nl

Deutsche Bank 40 50 05 970 Deutsche Bank USD 62 62 48 183

We think. We share. We act.





VTIONALCY GOVERNM

ACADONA

#### ETHICAL CLEARANCE LETTER

PROTOCOL NUMBER: ST /0002/JUNE/02

DATE: 14 JUNE, 2012.

i.

Amina M. Saleh

MPH Candidate MOH

<u>PROTOCOL TITLE</u>: "Exploring factors influencing adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Zanzibar (Tanzania A case of Mnazi mmoja Hospital care and treatment centre"

#### RE: ETHICAL CLEARANCE FOR CONDUCTING MEDICAL RESEARCH IN ZANZIBAR.

This is to certify that the research protocol entitled ""Exploring factors influencing adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adult people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Zanzibar (Tanzania A case of Mnazi mmoja Hospital care and treatment centre". Was received and reviewed by the Zanzibar Medical Research and Ethics Committee on June, 2012.

We would like to inform you that the decision of the committee to this protocol was "Approved".

The permission to undertake data collection is for one year beginning from the date of this letter.

The principal investigator must ensure that the progress report is made available to the Ministry of Health and the Zanzibar Medical Research and Ethics committee.

Any change made to the protocol need to be submitted to the committee for approval prior to its implementation

Thanks in advance,

THICA DR FIRI MARIJAN CRETARY MRE

#### Annex 4: Checklist of ART initiation counselling

4

(First CTC visit) -COUNSELING SESSION I (Someone never been on ART)

CTC 1 Number: \_\_\_\_\_Patient's Initials: \_\_\_\_

Date of counseling session\_\_\_\_\_ Counselor's name \_\_\_\_

NB: Please document most relevant/important information in the Counseling Log Section below

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Assure Confidentiality
- 3. Check/address patient emotional state if s/he recently learned serostatus
- 4. Describe what to expect today and how the program/clinic flow works
- 5. 
   Knowledge of HIV/AIDS, assess understanding
- 6. Prior use of ART for treatment? Yes No
- 7. Determine social support network
- 8. Disclosure -has s/he disclosed to anyone? Planning to\_\_\_ Yes I No
- 9. Initiate identification of a treatment assistant 10. Alcohol/drug use
- 11. 
  Assess patient's mood (i.e. level of depression)
- 12. Review living conditions and employment
  - a. 
    Assess potential family financial support
  - b. 
    Assess number of dependants
  - c Assess mobility due to work or living conditions
- 13. Describe the treatment program and importance of adherence
  - a. 
    What ART does suppresses virus/improves immunity/less Ol's/not a cure
  - b 🔲 Understanding ART is life long treatment
  - c. 🗌 Cost Free
  - d. 🗌 Follow-up
  - e. 

    Opportunistic infections
  - f. Importance of adherence and consequences of non-adherence
- 14. Questions/clarifications?
- 15 Complete Referral Form if necessary

Counseling log: (Use reverse of page if necessary)

U	C 1 Number:	Patient's Initials:
Da	ate of counseling session:	Counselor's name:
NE	B: Please document most relevant/important info	ormation in the Counceling Log Section below
1.	Inquire about overall well-being*	simation in the counseling Log Section below
	* If pregnant – discuss checklist with this in cons	ideration
2.	Review Adherence	
	<ul> <li>a. Avoid skipping doses, sharing drugs, ru</li> <li>b. Discuss barriers to adherence and how</li> </ul>	inning out of drugs to address them.
	c. Discuss Disclosure Plan (progress, nex	t steps, barriers, etc).
~	d. Describe home-based care that has been	en contacted by the patient
3.	Side Effects	•
4	a. Describe possible side effects	t tokon
	<ul> <li>a. Condom use, abstinence. Condom den</li> <li>b. Cross-infection and re-infection</li> <li>c. Reproductive health (Child wish and Fa</li> </ul>	nonstration done  Yes  No
5.	Disclosure (has the patient disclosed? Planning to	?)
6.	Which measures have the patient taken to stay he a. Food & water safety c. Exercise	althy
7.	Any changes in psychosocial well-being since last a. Any measure taken to support children i	visit f vulnerable
8.	Review patient disclosure plan. Disclosed?	
9.	Assess Readiness to Start ARV	
	a 🔲 Understand adherence c. 🗌 Ider	ntifying Treatment Assistance
4	b. 🗌 Willingness to take drugs d. 🗌 Rea	lizing drugs as long life treatment
	<ul> <li>e. Understands what to do during unexped be able to continue take drugs</li> </ul>	cted events (e.g. emergency travel) to ensure wil
10.	Questions	
11.	Complete Referral Form if necessary	
12.	☐ If patient is ready to start ART, refer the patie	ent to clinician. 🏾 Yes 🗔 No

ç

•

	Eligible
a a <u>a</u>	NOT Eligible
(Third CTC visit) COUNSELING SESSION III	
CTC 1 Number:	Patient's Initials:
Date of counseling session:	Counselor's name:
NB: Please document most relevant/important info	prmation in the Counseling Log Section below

1. Inquire about overall well-being\*

\* If pregnant – discuss checklist with this in consideration.

- 2. Review Adherence
  - a. 🔲 Avoid skipping doses, sharing drugs, running out of drugs
  - b. Discuss barriers to adherence and how to address them.
  - c. 🔲 Discuss Disclosure Plan (progress, next steps, barriers, etc).
  - d. Describe home-based care that has been contacted by the patient
- Side Effects 3
  - a. Describe possible side effects
- 4. Which review risk reduction steps have the patient taken
  - a. Condom use, abstinence. Condom demonstration done C Yes C No
  - b. Cross-infection and re-infection
  - c. C Reproductive health (Child wish and Family Planning).Refer if necessary.
- 5. Disclosure (has the patient disclosed? Planning to?)
- 6. Which measures have the patient taken to stay healthy
  - a. D Food & water safety c. Exercise
  - b. Good nutrition d. Healthy living; avoid or reduce alcohol, tobacco, and drugs
- 7. Any changes in psychosocial well-being since last visit
  - a. Any measure taken to support children if vulnerable
- 8. Review patient disclosure plan. Disclosed? 
  Yes No No
- 9. Assess Readiness to Start ARV
  - Understand adherence
- c. 🗌 Identifying Treatment Assistance Willingness to take drugs d. Realizing drugs as long life treatment
  - b. Understands what to do during unexpected events (e.g. emergency travel) to ensure will e.
  - be able to continue take drugs
- 10. Questions

а

- 11. Complete Referral Form if necessary
- 12. If patient is ready to start ART, refer the patient to clinician. Yes No

Counseling log :( Use reverse of the page if necessary)

Annex 5: ART evaluation form

		[	T 4 T 1	4 1		A DAM/A 7			509	任
	TATHIMINI YA UFUASI WA DAWA ZA ARV KWA WIKI. JINALA MTEJA NAMBA YA CTC Umri Jinsi Muda anaokunywa dawa:									
**	SIKU	-		٠.						
	ASUBUHI		$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	· .
	MUDA									
S.N	ageste providsform									ti sladi e e e
	MUDA					· · ·				
1	Aína ya dawa									·
1	Matokeo ya tathimini (%):									
	Changamoto/ Ushauri uliotolewa:									
				······································			······	1		
	SIKU ASUBUHI					$\square$				
						$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	
•	MUDA					· · ·				
	JONI									
	MUDA									C
, ÷	Aina ya dawa									
	Matokeo y	a tat	himini	(%):		Ta	arehe:			
	Changamoto/ Ushauri uliotolewa:									
	•••••••••••	•••••			••••••			••••••		•
in and the second	∎ Ma	eleke	zo: Jaz	a jina la siku	husika katika	vyumba viliv	yo wazi kisha	Weka alama	ya X katika	
	dua	ira hu	sika ka	ma hakunyw	a dawa					
	• • •		-		•					
				• •					· · ·	•
					-164					

. . .